
 

 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

June 5, 2023 

7:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.  Minutes for Approval  

 Minutes of June 13, 2022 – City Council 

 Minutes of July 11, 2022 – City Council 

 Minutes of May 1, 2023 – City Council 

 Minutes of May 10, 2023 – Public Health & Safety Committee 

  

 Presentations and Introductions 

 

3.  Unfinished Business 

 

a) Reports of Council Committees  

      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading      

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-11, an ordinance appropriating Eight Hundred 

Thousand Dollars ($800,000.00) for land acquisition, and professional services for the 

new public safety facilities for the Elkhart Fire Department  

 

c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

There are no ordinances or resolutions referred to committees 

 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions      

There are no tabled ordinances or resolutions 

 

4.       New Business 

 

a) Ordinances on First Reading  

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-12, an ordinance appropriating Three Hundred Fifty-

Five Thousand Dollars ($350,000.00) for purchase of five new police units and law 

enforcement kits, for the Elkhart Police Department.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
2 

b) Resolutions   

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-09, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\Creek, 

LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and 

memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-8-19, R-9-19 and 

R-10-19 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-10, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alliance RV, LLC\3 

Creek, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms 

and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-08-21, R-13-

21 and R-14-21 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-11, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, 

LLC\DVS, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits 

forms and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-06-17, 

R-08-17 and R-09-17 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-12, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Alpha Systems, 

LLC\DVS, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits 

forms and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-43-20, 

R-44-20 and R-45-20 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-13, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether American Millwork, 

LLC\Nickell Properties I, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement 

of benefits-Personal Property (Form CF-1/PP) and the memorandum of 

agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-07-21, R-11-21 and R-12-21 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-15, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Champion Manufacturing 

Inc.\C.R. 17 Land Development, LLC are in substantial compliance with its 

statement of benefits forms and memoranda of agreement approved under 

Resolution Nos. R-41-19, R-42-19 and R-43-10 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-16, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether EOZ Business, LLC are 

in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and the 

memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-37-20, R-39-

20 and R-40-20 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-17, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Flexible Concepts, Inc. 

are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits – personal property 

(Form CF-1/PP) and the memorandum of agreement approved under 

Resolution Nos. R-37-19, R-38-19 and R-39-19 

 



 

 
3 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-18, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Flexible Concepts, Inc. 

are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits – personal property 

(Form CF-1/PP) and the memorandum of agreement approved under 

Resolution Nos. R-51-21, R-57-21 and R-58-21 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-19, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Kem Krest, LLC\La Isla 

Bonita Properties, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of 

benefits forms and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. 

R-47-16, R-49-16 and R-50-16 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-20, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Marson International, 

LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and 

memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-04-22, R-06-22 

and R-07-22 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-21, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Placon Corporation are in 

substantial compliance with its statement of benefits forms and memoranda of 

agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-14-20, R-27-20 and R-28-20 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-22, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether R. Concepts Industries, 

Inc. are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits  (Form CF-

1\PP) and memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-37-

19, R-49-19 and R-50-10 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-23, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Tredit Tire & Wheel 

Company, Inc. are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits 

(Form CF-1\PP) and memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution 

Nos. R-38-18, R-42-18 and R-43-18 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-24, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Truma Corp.\42K Real 

Estate, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 

Forms) and memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-04-

18, R-09-18 and R-10-18 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-25, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether FF US Acquisition 

Corporation, DBA Tuscany Motor Company\TLMTG Properties, LLC are in 

substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and 

memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-50-18, R-53-18 

and R-54-18 

 

 



 

 
4 

Resolutions Continued 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-26, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana determining whether Americana Development; 

DBA: Dexstar Wheel are in substantial compliance with its statement of 

benefits (CF-1 Forms) and memoranda of agreement approved under 

Resolution Nos. R-51-20, R-52-20 and R-53-20 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-27, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether CTS Corporation are in 

substantial compliance with its statement of benefits (CF-1 Forms) and 

memoranda of agreement approved under Resolution Nos. R-03-19, R-04-19 

and R-05-19 

 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-28, a resolution of the Common Council 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, determining whether Tepe Sanitary Supply, 

Inc. T5, LLC are in substantial compliance with its statement of benefits 

(Form CF-1\RP) and memorandum of agreement approved under Resolution 

Nos. R-50-20, R-54-20 and R-55-20 

 

c) Vacation Hearings          

      There are no vacation hearings 

       

d) Other New Business 

 

e) Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

f) Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

g) Privilege of the Floor 

 

h) Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

5.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of April 11, 2023 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

 Minutes of May 9, 2023 – Board of Public Safety 

 Minutes of May 3, 2023 – Board of Public Works 

 Minutes of April 27, 2023 – Human Relations Commission 

 Minutes of April 18, 2023 – Parks & Recreation Board 

 Minutes of April 11, 2023 – Redevelopment Commission 

 Report – April 2023 Month End – Elkhart Communications Center 

 

6.    Adjournment   



  DRAFT 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING OF  

JUNE 13, 2022  

 

Present:  Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish and David Henke 

 

Absent:  None. 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All council members were present in Council Chambers 

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart. 

 

 Councilman Bullard led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance and President Dawson asked 

for a moment of silent reflection. 

 

The clerk called the roll. 

 

Minutes for Approval 

 

There were no minutes for approval. 

 

Presentations or Introductions 

 

 Councilman Mishler introduced Andrew Ellison and stated he has worked before in the State of 

Illinois regarding their redistricting and he is well regarded in that field. President Dawson stated I would 

like to add that the Ad-Hoc committee for redistricting included Councilman Mishler, Councilman Fish 

and Councilman Thomas, who authorized us to move forward with this.  

 

Andrew Ellison, Kokomo, Indiana, stated it is a pleasure to be here this evening to talk to you all 

about this redistricting. Mr. Ellison gave a presentation to the council on the 2022-2023 Elkhart 

Municipal Redistricting. Mr. Ellison stated thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak with you 

about this issue tonight. It’s a once in a decade opportunity to shape and direct how the redistricting 

process is going to play out at the municipal level and I’m here to talk to you today about it. For some of 

you who may not be familiar with this process and for other members of the audience, I just wanted to 

kind of detail what the redistricting process kind of looks like and what redistricting actually is. It is the 

process of drawing electoral district boundaries and places where they exist. This is true for district forms 

of government, whether it’s our house of representatives, state legislatures and most municipal 

governments and that includes the City of Elkhart. It occurs every ten years after the census to account for 

any population shifts that have been occurring with those districts and the council is going to be 

responsible for drawing the municipal district boundaries this summer. The general criteria that you want 

to account for when engaging in the redistricting process, for one you have single-member districts. As it 

is now, there are three at-large members of the council, six members who are from districts and that’s 

going to continue as set by state law, just as a bit of clarity there. There are first class, second class and 

third-class cities in Indiana.  Indianapolis is the one first-class, Elkhart would classify as a second-class 

city based on population and we will talk about statute and the effect that has on how Elkhart will 

approach that process. You want to focus on compactness and just make sure the district is sensible and 

not stretched out throughout the municipality, you want to make sure all districts are contiguous and that 

all parts of the district are held together and don’t have random parts of the city that have been drawn 



  DRAFT 

2 
 

together and mismatched. You want to have a relatively equal population and in this case you want to 

have a population of plus or minus the districts as a whole that are within 10% of each other. You don’t 

want the biggest being 10% bigger than the smallest district, just to make sure that one community in the 

district does not have more voters in the city than another. In a larger city you are going to have a lot of 

different communities that have a lot of different interests going on, so you want to make sure that those 

communities are well represented and that they will be able to elect a candidate who might reflect their 

community and what that community might need and, especially at the federal level, is racial fairness. It’s 

not too much of a concern here in Elkhart, but it will be something that you might want to take into 

account when drawing some of these districts. 

 

Mr. Ellison continued and stated going over the Indiana Constitutional requirements, just going 

over Indiana Constitution Section 36-4-6-3 kind of details the process for second-class cities and how to 

handle their redistricting process. I have highlighted the relevant sections on how to approach this going 

forward and subsection (b) notes that the legislative body shall adopt an ordinance to divide the city into 

six districts as they are now and that they are composed of a contiguous territory, are reasonably compact, 

do not cross precinct boundary lines and containing as nearly as possibly an equal population.  

 

Following the presentation, Councilman Fish stated do you have a chart of how each of the 

districts are populated now, with the new numbers to get it to the 10%? Mr. Ellison stated yes, on the old 

map it notes in the first set of data, the district, the population and the raw population deviation, each 

District should have just a hair under 9,000 people. The first and the sixth are well below that the third is 

above, so ideally you would want to even that out so it is under a 10% deviation. The graphic for the new 

proposal brings that deviation below the 10% threshold so it would bring it into population compliance. 

   

 Councilman Dawson stated so at this point, we need to put together an ordinance that we want to 

approve. The committee needs to decide whether they want to convene again, but we need to put an 

ordinance together for our July meeting, so you have a few weeks, but we would like to have this for our 

meeting in July. We meet back to back in July and I am not sure what the publication requirements are for 

this, but we will need to have some public hearings as well, but we need to get an ordinance before us. 

 

 Councilman Curry stated I would like to take some time to look at the changes, the 5th district is 

moving from 8th Street all the way over to 6th Street and some of my best voters are in that area. So I 

would like to take a look at that because these people vote. President Dawson stated once we get a hard 

copy I think that will help us all.  

 

 President Dawson stated we have another presentation from Kristin Smole. Kristin Smole, 

Assistant Director to Economic Development, stated we have a new team member that has joined us, his 

name is Drew Wynes and he is going to be the new Economic Development Specialist in our department 

and he will be helping with some of our incentives and phase-ins, so he will be a face that you will see for 

probably years to come. Drew Wynes, stated thank you all for having me. I just graduated with a Masters 

in Economic Development from Western Illinois University, and I am totally new to Indiana and Elkhart 

and I have really enjoyed my first month here and it has been wonderful. You guys have a wonderful city 

and I am glad to be a part of improving quality of life in Elkhart and working on tons of Economic 

Development projects. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Reports of Council Committees 

 

 There were no reports from Council Committees. 

 



  DRAFT 

3 
 

Ordinances on Second-Third Reading 

 

 There were no ordinances on second-third reading. 

 

 

Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

 

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS 

($500,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE 

NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE HOMEOWNER-OCCUPIED 

PROPERTY REHABILITATION PROGRAM 

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance, 21-O-46-R, remains in committee.  

 

   

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND 

THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS 

LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT 

FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE NEIGHBORHOOD OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE  

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance, 21-O-49, remains in committee.  

 

 

Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-09 

 

 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE 

NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS 

AMENDED, TO REZONE 309 STAINLESS DRIVE, ELKHART, INDIANA BY REMOVING 

THE EXISTING ZONING RESTRICTION, WHICH PROHIBITS ACCESS TO THE 

PROPERTY FROM COUNTY ROAD 19 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 22-O-09 remains tabled.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(The balance of this page was intentionally left blank.) 

 

 

 

 



  DRAFT 

4 
 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Ordinances on First Reading 

 

  

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-28 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00/100 DOLLARS 

($500,000) FROM THE GENERAL FUND TO THE REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE-OTHER 

ACCOUNT FOR THE DOWNTOWN MAIN STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance 22-O-28, by title only. President Dawson passed the 

ordinance on to second reading. 

 

 

Resolutions 

 

 

Resolution # R-18-22 

 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

APPROVING THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ELKHART 

AND THE INDIANA FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE LABOR COUNCIL, INC. 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-18, by title only. Councilman Mishler, seconded by 

Councilman Fish, moved to adopt the proposed resolution. President Dawson opened the floor for 

council discussion and Councilman Fish stated are there any state statutes that cover this activity for 

citizens basically taking responsibility for prisoners? Chris Seymore, Chief of Elkhart Police Department, 

stated not that I am aware of, we have flushed this through with Legal and nothing has come up in terms 

of that. These are already existing employees, they will just have a little further training. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated how many transfers occur per day? Chief Seymore stated I would have 

to ballpark it but I would have to say 20 to 25 a day, it may be more on the weekends. Councilman Henke 

stated does that include the court that is upstairs? Chief Seymore stated that is different, this would be 

when an officer makes an arrest, they would be responsible for taking that person to the county jail, which 

takes them off the street, so if you think about having three officers that have arrests at the same time, you 

have three less officers on the street patrolling and being able to answer calls. So what this does is free up 

an officer of having to take care of the transport piece, so they can stay in City limits and still be able to 

take calls. Councilman Henke stated to follow with that, I worry about the duplicity being one of those 

things, knowing the limitation of these particular officers, I would like this to also address, moving 

forward, officers being used as crossing guards, resource officers in schools, as opposed to public servants 

that would be represented here, because those also take officers off the street on a routine basis. So, if we 

would look at pairing down all other uses of officers, because if they are used as fill-ins on a regular basis. 

Then, I had to question, with regard to the people who would be in these positions, help me connect why 

they are not pursuing becoming commissioned officers? Chief Seymore stated that would be something 

you would have to ask the individual, some of them are beyond the age limit, some of them just choose 

not to go that route, they would rather be civil safety officers. Councilman Henke stated then overall, do 

you have a business plan that somewhat depicts the amount of time it would take for these folks to take 

people to the jail and process and then the time it would free up, so they would be doing their report and 

not transporting, so do we have an idea of the new cost of this program and what you would expect as a 



  DRAFT 

5 
 

savings on the other side, probably more likely in the time of police officers and direct contact on the 

street? Chief Seymore stated I don’t have exact numbers for you but I can tell you this expense is detailed 

in the memorandum where the officers would be paid an additional $2.00 for having more duties, so there 

is a cost there, but the savings, I don’t know that we measure it in terms of dollars as opposed to having 

coverage on the streets, so our officers are safe and the citizens are safe because we keep them on the 

street and not have them tied up. The report piece of it, I would be glad if we didn’t have as much 

paperwork as we currently have, but that is the nature of the beast. We have looked at ways to streamline 

that and one of those ways would be an upgraded records management system. That will significantly cut 

down our paperwork time, once that is rolled out here, hopefully at the end of the year. 

 

 Councilwoman Baughman stated this appears to be a bigger question and appears to come from 

perspective of lack of number of officers. Chief Seymore stated that is part of the equation, yes. 

Councilwoman Baughman stated okay so that appears to be the bigger question, how do we recruit and 

retain more officers? Under this current one, I think we are going to open ourselves up for an incredible 

amount of liability if you take a civilian safety officer from a location and transfer them, are they allowed 

to carry a weapon? Chief Seymore stated no, these will be unarmed. That is one of the things we 

considered, but a lot of them did not want to take on that extra training, maybe for fears of not being able 

to do it and not completing it, the extra liability on themselves. Councilwoman Baughman stated I think a 

better perspective would have been to come from a vantage point of how do we make the Elkhart Police 

Department and give them an advantage to be able to recruit and retain officers versus transferring the 

responsibility of a police officer to a civilian safety officer. As you said they didn’t have any interest of 

carrying a firearm of some sort. I think also this is leading into the fact that our Police Department is 

planning on two new police stations and it is my understanding that the main police station will not have a 

jail? Chief Seymore stated that is still in the design phase and as it stands there is still one factored in 

there and we are testing this transport phase to see if it is something down the road, if we could cut a jail 

facility out, that would save us on budget concerns for actually building the building. This was the result 

of us being forced to do it, we are short of the civilian safety officers and we have a compliment of about 

half of what we used to have, so our traditional means of booking prisoners in our jail, we don’t have the 

staffing for, so we were forced to make this shift to direct transports. We upgraded some of our 

technology to be able to do that and in our current system we take the paperwork to the county jail. Now 

let me back up and address your concerns about recruiting, it is a challenge, it has been a challenge for a 

few years now, part of that we are addressing with our internal culture, the second part of this is what kind 

of police department and what kind of people do we want to draw? We have to pay them, we have to have 

incentives for people to want to come here and for people to want to stay in this profession and whether 

that’s for lateral transfers, we have a $7,500 bonus of lateral transfers and that is pretty significant for this 

area, but as it stands right now, our starting pay is on par with other local agencies. We have taken steps 

necessary to try to get people in the door, we have seen a bit of an increase in applicants with those things 

in place and I am optimistic we will get there and I hope to cut our openings in half. Councilwoman 

Baughman stated honestly I don’t think we have thought of everything, we have to think differently, we 

have to find ways to recruit people to come here. I think we as a council and a community need to think 

differently and find other ways to be able to recruit and retain. 

 

 President Dawson stated Chief, in your cover letter you mentioned training and I think that was 

what Councilwoman Hines wanted to speak to. Chief Seymore stated as you can see, a lot of these things 

are already things that they do in their training, so that would be a review, there would be an updated 

version of that. Essentially the only thing that is being added in here is we are adding them driving a 

vehicle from the City to the County Jail. So in the case they would have an emergency vehicle operation, 

they would be training in that, map training so they know where they are going in the City, so that is the 

only thing that is being added as essential in their training. They are already well versed in booking 

prisoners, searching prisoners, they do have less lethal weapons that they are already carry, so this would 

be an update on their existing training with the addition of driving.  



  DRAFT 

6 
 

 

 Councilwoman Hines stated to piggyback on the conversation of them not wanting to become a 

police officer, has that conversation or is there other incentives in terms of recruiting them since they do 

have other duties? Chief Seymore stated so the 18-21 age range you talk about, we use to have civil safety 

officers that were in that age range that become officers, now we have seen that morphed into an older 

more mature person that is putting in for this job because it doesn’t have the rigors of the street. It used to 

be a pipeline for officers, they would start out in the jail, we could see their work ethic and how they did 

things and then they would come onto the police department. We have several officers that were safety 

officers, so that 18-21 age range, we are encouraging them to apply at the county jail because they are 35 

jail officers short and we get officers from the county jail all the time that apply, so if we can help them 

fill their roles, that serves as a training ground for officers to come into our department from there. It’s a 

give and take. 

 

 Councilman Mishler stated in my past experience as a registered nurse, I worked at the St. Joe 

County Jail and during that intake period, in the vestibule, when you are bringing people in, that is one of 

the most dangerous times to bring someone in, because you don’t necessarily know if they are on drugs, if 

they are drinking or violent, so I always encourage additional training for our officers in that regard. 

Working in the jail I kind of witnessed that pipeline from the County Jail to the South Bend P.D. or 

Mishawaka, and I am kind of happy we are doing the same thing here in Elkhart County, seeing those 

folks get trained how to deal with people, work with people and defend themselves and transferring those 

same skills and discipline, most importantly, to the police department. Chief Seymore stated in the end 

they are going to be asked if they feel comfortable. We don’t put anyone on the street, whether it’s a 

police officer or a safety officer, have they received the training that is necessary, have the instructors 

signed off on their training, do they feel comfortable and lastly do they feel comfortable doing the job and 

if they don’t we will continue on with the training until they do feel comfortable. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I am again looking for a level of a business plan. It does seem a little 

reactionary, and I can understand the concept of this. The question is why would they choose Elkhart 

when everyone is advertising? What do we do differently above and beyond for comfort? I think that is 

the biggest issue. Temporarily, this is going to be the band aid but it’s not the fix. The fix is to have real 

officers, commissioned officers, doing what they do best. I have a big issue and concern with regard to 

liability. I can understand that these particular folks don’t want to carry a firearm but I would rather not 

have that be their decision. What does the job call for based on history across the region or national and 

what has been the level of problems. We should automatically know that and base that on the types of 

arrests that we have locally, I would hope we would go that way. Training at all levels is a good thing, 

anytime we can train, but I would like to pull that $80,000.00 away and push that towards the training 

side because I don’t think you’ll get what you are looking for. I would like to see the energy brought into 

the recruitment side. You are now stating we are using an officer for recruiting and background and again, 

it’s a dilution of yet another officer. When a transport would happen and something happens on the street, 

is there not a sergeant or lieutenant or both that would fill when there is someone missing from their zone 

because of a duty, is there not a backup system already? Chief Seymore stated that is a potential, but they 

could be in another scene directing that. We have multiple times in the City of 54,000 people and 28 

square miles that we could have 3 or 4 scenes going on at the same time or we have called in other shifts 

from home to come in and help cover that. There is no way to predict how that happens, we have a 

minimum staffing requirement from the FOP contract, but you have to remember that the less officers we 

have, they still have time off. They still have vacation and we have to honor those and then we also have 

to cover the street and it becomes a rob Peter to pay Paul situation and you are exactly right, this is a band 

aid. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I am asking for a few things to be measurable. Could you validate, over 

the last six months, how many actual transports are happening per month in real numbers? Do we still 



  DRAFT 

7 
 

have the reserve officer program? Chief Seymore stated no. Councilman Henke stated why did that fall 

away? Chief Seymore stated because that, in actuality, is a huge liability, more so than what this is. You 

have officers that have not been to the police academy that only work say a special event or one weekend 

a month. You are really setting them up for failure. A lot of departments and a lot of smaller departments 

are going away from that. The larger departments can handle that volume of training and getting them out 

on the street. They are what I would call a force multiplier for some of those larger departments. We were 

at the point where we had one and it didn’t do anything for us. In lieu of not having that liability out there, 

we got rid of that program. Councilman Henke stated, we used to have what was called self-defense, now 

it is emergency management I believe and they do carry or they do drive City vehicles. They do step into 

traffic, they go to scenes and do those things. Is there a relationship that those folks could be utilized in 

any for transport? Chief Seymore stated no, they are all volunteers, so if we have a major storm or 

something where we can predict that, we would call them in for a temporary basis to help until the power 

is restored or a street’s cleared. They are not a long term solution, being volunteers. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated some of us might be receiving some phone calls, and I don’t know if 

you saw the news, but there was a little blip and I talked to the Chief about this, but ABC 57 news is 

going to bring up something on TV tonight, 20 years from the past and it seems like this happened before 

with them and it was kind of a hit piece on the City of Elkhart police department. As far as I am 

concerned, we are asking all the questions to you, Chris, because we do have confidence in you and the 

job you’re doing and the direction that you want to take the police department. As far as the media, you 

have the full support of the council. In the last two years under your leadership, we have seen some police 

policy changes, the new Axon contract, the $85,000.00 campaign promotion to try to get new positions 

and the community involvement and strategic training and I think you are doing a lot of right things, but 

you also realize there is more to do.  

 

 Councilwoman Baughman asked how many positions are you still trying to fill of the civilian 

safety officers, and do you think this decision will attract more? Chief Seymore stated possibly, it’s added 

responsibility to get outside of the building or working at the front desk, answering phone calls, and just 

booking prisoners in our jail, so they get to know the city, they are engaged with the officers, they are 

going to be engaged with the community at times, more often, so it’s possible. Councilwoman Baughman 

stated okay, now walk me through this. You make an arrest, north in David’s district, you wait, correct? 

How do you want it work? Chief Seymore stated an officer would state I made an arrest at 123 Main 

Street. I need a transport officer. That officer will be driving around the city or stationery somewhere and 

they would go to that scene, pick up the prisoner, get the charges, fill out the paperwork, take him to the 

County Jail. The officer that made the arrest stays on the street. Councilwoman Baughman stated so that 

officer waits there until that transport officer gets there, correct? Chief Seymore stated yes. 

Councilwoman Baughman stated so I would just be curious to the amount of time that the officer is going 

to sit there and wait, five minutes, seven minutes, that’s still an opportunity and costs that we are not 

weighing and I struggle with that. The officer has to sit there, he can’t police then. Chief Seymore stated 

right, but the opposite side of that is he takes the prisoner to the jail himself, that takes half hour to 45 

minutes that they are not on the street doing anything, they are responsible for that prisoner so the tradeoff 

for five to seven minutes in waiting versus 45 minutes to drive down to the county jail, book them in and 

then drive back to the city, it’s way more. Councilwoman Baughman stated well if you’re doing it just by 

that, but you haven’t factored in liability, job responsibilities or what happens when there is a problem, 

and you gave arrested somebody and they say well I transferred him to the civilian safety officer and 

something happened. I think there is a bigger picture here and I appreciate what you are trying to do, you 

are trying to stop the hemorrhaging and I get it, but we have to find a contract in something that will 

recruit and retain top notch people to join the team. 

 

 There being no other council discussion, President Dawson opened the floor for public 

comments. Andy Jones, Airport Director, 2229 East Jackson, stated the Chief and I had a conversation 



  DRAFT 

8 
 

with Tom Schoff about river patrol and civilian officers helping out with patrolling the river and he made 

some valid points as to why they need sworn officers for that type of duty. The one thing I would wonder 

about this duty would be, you arrive at a scene, the person is arrested, they are placed in the back seat of 

the patrol vehicle by the sworn officer, so they are confined, they are transferred to the county jail, are 

they then taken out of the back seat by an officer at the county jail or by the civilian? If that were the case, 

then the civilian the whole time would be perfectly safe, in terms of being harmed by this individual 

suspect that is under arrest. That would make a big difference I think and for some of your concerns, it’s 

just an observation. 

 

 A member of the public, who is a civilian safety officer and whose name was inaudible on the 

recording, stated listening to some of your concerns about the civil safety officer, I have been with the 

police department now for about 13 years, I have been a jail officer for 13 years. When I was hired on, I 

was too old to become a police officer, I was above the age. I have been with the Middlebury police 

department for two years and I was with the Nappanee police department for five years. I have plenty of 

training, I know how to handle myself. I have dealt with good people, and I have dealt with the worse. I 

know how to handle myself at the jail, when I am on scene, I know what to look for and I am not going to 

put myself in any type of danger over an inmate. When we transport people, the officer would have 

already searched and handcuffed the individual that was under arrest. I would follow up with that with my 

own search. I would not put that person in the van unless it was absolutely safe. When we arrive there, we 

place our firearms in a secured vehicle and the people from the jail are the ones who come out to the van 

and get the individual. We are then free from them and they take over and do the search. We do fill out 

the paperwork with the charges and we are told when we can leave.  

 

 There being no other comments from the public, President Dawson, returned the discussion to the 

council. Councilman Mishler stated I mentioned earlier in my time as a corrections nurse and a part of 

that time was responding to a call in a vestibule to take a look at an inmate as they were brought in and at 

that time we would determine if they were intoxicated, injured or under the influence of a substance, that 

we would not accept them into the jail and we would recommend that that officer take them for a medical 

evaluation and clearance from the hospital. With this idea, would that same security officer be with that 

newly arrested inmate when they go to the hospital, or would another officer come back and take that 

person there? Chief Seymore stated the same policy applies at the county jail, they have an intake 

procedure and sometimes they reject them for medical reasons, and they transport them to the hospital 

until they are medically cleared, and they would be stuck with them until it is time to take them back to 

the jail and right now a police officer stays with them for the duration of that time. So that’s another thing 

that takes them off the street for potentially hours, so it is not efficient. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated it did bring up a couple of concerns and we need to understand that this 

is a resolution. It’s not asking for additional dollars. We just want to make sure there is a target for overall 

improvement, and I think we agreed that this is more of another band aid, and we can only put on so 

many band aids until we address some of the real other outstanding issues. The safety officer that was 

here stated they would take them to the county jail and the jail officer would come get them and take care 

of it, but then he went on to say he would fill out the report, can you clarify that? Chief Seymore stated 

the arrest report, there is an arrest report that is just their personal information that is needed for the 

booking procedure and the charges that are applicable. Councilman Henke stated so they would be 

copying what the arresting officer already inputted? Chief Seymore stated just the personal information, 

the name, date of birth, address and applicable charges and medical conditions, but the officer making the 

arrest completes the applicable paperwork. Councilman Henke stated so the sworn officer then? Chief 

Seymore stated yes. Councilman Henke stated we talked about the hospital, and it brought up a point that 

is concerning as well. From a hospital’s point of view, they want someone brought in for medical 

evaluation and then that person is in the hospital without a guard so to speak, I think someone should 

speak to the hospital before we make that assumption, that a safety officer is enough, I suppose. I just 



  DRAFT 

9 
 

want to make sure that everyone is on page with that type of thing. For my support, I just need to see a 

measurable outcome at the end. Chief Seymore stated I can provide the number of transports we actually 

do. 

 

 There being no further council discussion, President Dawson called for the vote on the proposed 

resolution and the vote was as follows: Ayes: Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Henke, and 

Dawson. Nays: Baughman. The motion carried, 8-1, and the proposed resolution was adopted.  

   

 

 

Resolution # R-19-22 

 

A RESOLUTION PROVING FOR THE ELIMINATION OF HIVELY AVENUE GRADE 

CROSSING, REPEALING ALL PRIOR ACTIONS IN CONFLICT THEREWITH, AND FOR 

OTHER PURPOSES 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution, 22-R-19, by title only. Councilman Fish, seconded by 

Councilman Curry, moved to adopt the proposed resolution.  President Dawson opened the floor for 

council discussion and Tory Irwin, City Engineer, stated in 2018, the City of Elkhart, applied for a state 

and local tax grant for the grade separation of Hively Avenue over the Norfolk Southern line. As a part of 

that application, we were required to eliminate two at grade railroad crossings and those were identified 

as Lusher Avenue railroad crossing and the Hively at grade crossing. As a part of the incentive to 

eliminate those at grade crossings, Norfolk Southern will give us $100,000.00 per eliminated crossing for 

a total of $200,000.00. These crossings will not be closed until the Hively grade separation is completed. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated is this about a fair amount, have we looked to see what normal is or is 

this a one time hit for the city specifically? Mr. Irwin stated this is Norfolk Southern’s standard payment 

for crossings and at grade crossings that are eliminated. We received the same payment as part of the 

Prairie grade separation project. Councilman Henke stated I want to release them from all liability, so 

what would that entail, what is the disclaimer there that would say they cannot be held accountable for 

certain things. Mr. Irwin stated I would have imagined that by eliminating the at grade crossings, we have 

therefore eliminated the danger to the public with passing that at grade crossing. That language comes 

from the railroad. Councilman Henke stated I would ask that we get a clarifier, I would want to make sure 

that we know what we are limiting their liability to as opposed to having voting this in as a resolution and 

then it comes up at a later date, more than we intended it to. I am uncomfortable with that because I am 

not a lawyer either. 

 

 Councilman Curry stated when we closed Lusher, did we have a preferred route for commercial 

vehicles that would be designated differently than it is now? Mr. Irwin stated the designation would be 

Hively or Indiana to Sterling, that would be the preferred route. Councilman Curry stated so between the 

two would Main Street also be a part of that commercial vehicle route? Mr. Irwin stated it depends on 

how the vehicles would be getting to and from the crossing, Main Street would certainly be an option, I 

believe that is one of the truck routes in the city. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated that is a good point about alternate routes and we should probably start 

training the truckers that are clogging up our streets now. We should look at new signage to direct them, 

because we are still having bus crossings at Lusher and Hively that clog up traffic and a lot of trucks go 

through in the early morning. Maybe we can talk to the Google maps people. Mr. Irwin stated we have 

tried to talk to Google but it does not talk back to us. They usually don’t take our advice on designating 

routes, but we can certainly post signs, that is no problem at all, but I can’t force people to follow signs, 

but the whole traffic pattern at Hively will change once the project goes through, so there will be a whole 



  DRAFT 

10 
 

retraining for people once we do that project. Councilman Fish stated we still have so much truck traffic 

on South Main that we should probably start and just educate people that there is an underpass at Indiana 

that would alleviate or eliminate their frustrations and a lot of our traffic problems from there all the way 

down. 

 

 Councilman Thomas stated you need to talk to the company’s themselves and the dispatchers 

because google map is not a person. Also, just a housekeeping, or typo, the title of this resolution only 

mentions Hively and yet it is Hively and Lusher that are equally impacted. Should Hively be in the 

heading of the resolution?  

 

 John Espar, Corporation Counsel, stated it is not legally necessary that it’s in the title. The title is 

for informational purposes, it’s not binding, even if it’s the title of an ordinance it doesn’t bind. It’s the 

sections that follow, it’s the statement of resolution that is the official piece of legislation. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated will the crossing at Lusher stay open until Hively is completely done? 

Mr. Irwin stated yes. 

 

 There being no other council discussion, President Dawson opened the floor for public comment. 

There being none, President Dawson returned the discussion to the council. Councilman Henke stated I 

just want to know the limit of liability being excused by Norfolk Southern, to make sure we are not 

backing ourselves into a corner. Nonetheless, this was on a larger conversation, so I want to make sure 

there is a limit. 

 

 There being no further discussion from the council, President Dawson asked for the vote on the 

resolution and the vote was as follows: Ayes: Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, 

Henke, and Dawson. Nays: None. The motion carried unanimously, 9-0, and the resolution was 

adopted.  

  

 

Resolution # R-20-22 

 

 A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, 

AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF ONE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($100,000) 

FROM THE FULL TIME ACCOUNT TO THE EDUCATION AND TRAINING ACCOUNT FOR 

THE ELKHART POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution, 22-R-20, by title only. Councilman Fish, seconded by 

Councilman Curry, moved to adopt the resolution. President Dawson opened the floor for council 

discussion and Councilman Henke stated just a little bit of housekeeping, but normally there is a budget. I 

think over the last 3-4 years we have gone from $25,000.00 to $35,000.00 and $39,000.00 and 

$41,000.00. You make it sound as though we have put off education for a while and so I am not sure how 

many officers or the average cost of training per officer would be, how many would be affected, would 

we be caught up to date, what would all be impacted in the $100,000.00? New training or just training 

that has been put off? Chief Seymore stated all the above, so outside training courses, which are 

continuing ed type of courses or specialized courses, such as basic homicide investigations, the SWAT 

school, crime scene photography and so on. Those are outside continuing ed courses, and in the pandemic 

years all training was shut down and we didn’t have the ability to send anyone to training, so right now, 

again being short, the officers that we do have we are catching up on potentially two years of missed 

opportunities at training. We have our internal training that we do, but it does not incorporate a lot of that 

outside training, we don’t have the capability to do that. We would like to get that to that with our training 

building and we would like to host that training as we talked about previously. This also includes new 



  DRAFT 

11 
 

hires and sending them to the academy. During COVID, the state academy was shut down or only 

accepted a certain amount of numbers during the training phase, which gave us a backlog as we were 

trying to hire new people and we are actually getting a new string of people in, but we have to get them 

trained within the first year of employment, because that is the opportunity for them to make it. 

Councilman Henke stated I are these requirements, example for fingerprinting, do you have to maintain 

CEU’s to maintain a certain qualification? Chief Seymore stated well this is just the initial training to 

learn how to do it in the first place. Councilman Henke stated I am just curious but for five years we have 

never gone over $41,000.00 so why are we jumping $100,000.00 when we have been comfortable at 

$41,000.00? Chief Seymore stated the $41,000.00 is for civilian staff training and $80,000.00 is for 

officers and what has happened is we have gone above that $80,000 and have had to dip into that civilian 

training budget, which as we filled with civilians, we also have to train them. We are over the $80,000.00 

for 143 officers and then the $41 and change is for our civilian staff, so we have been taking from there, 

but now we have to catch up for the civilians as well. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated I support this, I just have a clarification. The new facility that we are 

planning on building out North, that will be a great training area, could we reduce some of your costs and 

do trainings at a facility like that where we won’t have to do so much travel. Chief Seymore stated it 

won’t eliminate all of it, because we would not be able to host that many trainings in a years’ time, but it 

will offset some of it. It depends on what type of training it is, how many officers spots that we would get.  

 

 Councilwoman Baughman stated taking the $100,000.00 from the full-time account, how many 

employees does that account for. Chief Seymore stated we have done the math before and it is 

$100,000.00 to train an officer in their first year, so one officer. Councilwoman Baughman stated at full 

capacity you said it was at 143 officers, what are we at today? Chief Seymore stated we are at 123 I 

believe. Councilwoman Baughman stated for the account number under education and training, it has 

since 2019, we have spent $25,800.00, $39,200.00, $40,500.00, 40,500.00 and what did that include 

again? Chief Seymore stated is that the civilian one? Councilwoman Baughman stated it’s the police 

officer one, it’s the education and training account. Chief Seymore stated in 2020 and 2021, we had 

COVID where we just didn’t send anybody to training, they weren’t available, so we weren’t spending it. 

Councilwoman Baughman stated the account it is going into, you were consistent in 2020 and 2021 and 

as Councilman Henke stated, now we are going to go up by $100,000.00 into that same account number?  

 

 Jamie Arce, City Controller, stated I think the gap here is that the $80,000.00 the Chief is 

referring to is from a different fund. That is from the Law Enforcement Education fund, which is the 233 

fund in our original book, versus the $40,000.00 which is imbedded in the general fund Police Operating 

Budget and currently to date we are at $67,000.00 of that $80,000.00 spent out of the education fund. 

Councilman Baughman stated and the reason you are doing it is because you are taking general fund 

money from the full time to put it back into there? Mr. Arce stated right, and because the Law 

Enforcement Education Fund can’t afford the additional costs associated with the training needs that the 

police department has. 

 

 There being no other council discussion, President Dawson opened the floor for public comment. 

There being no comments from the public, President Dawson returned the discussion back to the council. 

There being no other discussion from the council, President Dawson called for the vote to adopt the 

resolution and the vote was as follows: Ayes: Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Baughman, Fish, 

Henke, and Dawson. Nays: None. The motion carried unanimously, 9-0, and the resolution was adopted.  

 

 

 

 

 



  DRAFT 

12 
 

Resolution # R-21-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART REQUESTING 

THAT THE INDIANA LEGISLATURE AND GOVERNOR SUSPEND FOR A PERIOD OF SIX 

MONTHS, THE INDIANA GAS TAX 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution, 22-R-21, by title only. Councilman Mishler, seconded by 

Councilman Fish, moved to adopt the proposed resolution. President Dawson opened the floor for 

council discussion and Councilman Mishler stated I had asked for this resolution after speaking with 

several residents and constituents of the city, as well as several business owners who are concerned with 

not only rising inflation, which is directly impacted by the cost of gasoline, but the cost of gas who are on 

fixed incomes, social security, disabled veterans, and the like. We have very little influence or control on 

the free market, we can’t control where folks put their refineries or how much they drill, that is up to the 

free market and we have very little influence on the federal government, who currently has a bill to 

suspend the gas tax of $0.18 in the U.S. Senate, but what we can do is ask our state legislature to 

temporarily suspend for a period of six months, the two gas taxes that impact us when we pay for a gallon 

of gas at the pump and those taxes are $.032 a gallon, which is fixed and raises $.01 every year in July 

until 2024, the other is a 7% sales tax that is the average of the cost of gas in Indiana the month before, so 

as the price of gas continues to rise due to factors that are not in our control, the gas tax, the 7% portion, 

increases with it. So, suspending both of those, while not a permanent fix to the rising cost of fuel, which 

not only impacts our small businesses and our residents, but also the municipal cost and budget here in 

the City. That is why I am asking for this temporary suspension of the gas tax, to support our residents 

and small businesses in the community, because folks need some relief. 

 

 Councilwoman Baughman stated I appreciate all you said, and I think everyone has been 

impacted by these gas prices and it happened long before they became $5.00 a gallon. It might be better 

when we have this conversation when it is at $3.00 and let’s have a conversation saying let’s suspend all 

gas taxes at a certain dollar amount, therefore… but to wait until its at $5.00, it becomes propaganda, 

because our gas prices are going to continue to go up and if we cannot afford them at $5.00 we won’t 

afford them at $6.00 regardless if there is a gas tax included. Do I think it should be gone? I’m not in 

favor of taxes period, I think taking people’s money is ridiculous, but interestingly enough, the governor 

cannot suspend the gas tax. Changes in federal law prevent him from doing so right now. There is a 

federal gas tax on gas at $.018 and the state has no control over that. Most of the money goes to INDOT 

for state projects, but local jurisdictions do benefit as well. I think for the council to have access to how 

much money is coming from the gas tax to our community here, I would like to know, and the impact it 

can have on our ability to do the things that we need to do. I would also ask that based on this resolution, 

that the city provide a budget and impact on how the cost of rising fuel has impacted their budgets, 

particularly on police and fire, so I think it’s important to provide them the necessary resources that they 

need. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated so did the city retain the fuel co-op, that we used to have under Mayor 

Moore? We were guaranteed a fixed price, we don’t have that? I did understand and I think there has been 

talk on the local news about the government’s inability to actually provide this level of authority without 

that emergency clause that you had mentioned. I am not sure where we are with this, we can’t ask the 

governor to do something that he cannot do. I think we can express that it is harming our constituents, but 

so is the inflation and all the free money the government put out and we accepted, all the ARP money and 

all the things, $40 to $50 Million Dollars. That has to come from somewhere and it is trickle back effect 

that we are paying for and unfortunately all of our constituents are paying for it as well and everyone in 

this country. 

 



  DRAFT 

13 
 

 Councilman Curry stated this resolution is just that, it is a resolution, it really doesn’t have much 

weight as far as getting to the governor or the state legislature, state representatives and asking them to 

take some action as the governor did years ago, but things change. Maybe we should be sending this, if it 

would pass to our state representatives and be proactive and make sure this doesn’t happen again, where 

the governor would have the ability to step in and change things as far as taxes on gasoline. I think we 

need to make sure that our big oil companies, that if they see states eliminating taxes, they don’t raise the 

price back up where they can make more money. No one is hearing from them, and they are making all 

kinds of big money and no one is addressing them and I just think, however this vote goes, it’s symbolic 

that we do care about our constituents, but really our hands are tied. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated this is not a long-term solution by any means. This gives us a 

demonstration of an appearance of responsiveness and that is pretty much all it is. There will be some 

unintended consequences if this would lower. People will get the feeling and it would incentivize people 

to travel, which will increase the demand and prices will go up. The tax we need to worry about right now 

is inflation, right now it is being taxed at 8.6%. Like Councilman Henke said, the free money, the ARP 

money handed out, we are paying for it now. This cut delivers the same financial benefit across the whole 

levels of income, so there will be some that are affected greatly and some that this won’t affect at all. Not 

everyone drives. We talk about building a walkable community and here we have people living in 

apartments, that don’t have to buy gas, they won’t see any of this tax break, but they are spending state 

dollars to give people the tax benefit. I would much rather see this $225.00 they talk about giving to every 

taxpayer in the state of Indiana, that way everyone that paid in will get something in return. Also, in other 

studies of states that have passed gas tax, only about 70% actually comes back as a savings through 

administrative costs. This really does not do anything to curb inflation, it’s a feel-good resolution and in 

my opinion is monopoly money.  

 

 Councilman Mishler stated I do also think the $225.00 stimulus is a good idea, it is always a good 

idea to put taxpayers’ funds back in their hands, however what that stimulus will fail to do is directly 

support and benefit our local businesses around here that rely heavily on transporting goods, as well as 

those in our agricultural sectors throughout the state for transporting food and goods. You mentioned 

inflation, part of inflation is the cost of transporting goods throughout Indiana, directly lowering the price 

those companies and individuals use to get those goods transported will not stop inflation, but it will help 

inflation partially, because folks will not be spending as much to get those goods transported, you won’t 

have the reduction in goods and services that you see with inflation. I know this is a complicated issue 

that has a lot of factors with it, but again, I go back to our most vulnerable constituents who are on a fixed 

income and it might not seem like much, but filling up their tank at the end of the week when their 

paycheck is still a few days away, they feel that pain at the pump and the difference between $70 or 

$80.00 to fill up their tank compared to $40 or $50.00, may not seem like much, but that’s a pizza for 

their kids, or something they can invest in the future for their retirement. Those little things add up and 

once again I think if those in our community could have a vote to lower the price of gas or not, I would 

sure hope they would lower it, even if it is only $0.50 to $.060 a gallon. 

 

 At this time, President Dawson, opened the floor for public comment and there being no 

comments from the public, President Dawson returned the discussion to the council floor. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated I just got back from London and it’s almost $9.00 a gallon there. They 

keep driving and they have habits they won’t break. I think America’s problem is we have habits we 

won’t break and its cars and fuels and all of this and this is chance for us. Any gesture to help our people 

and our businesses should be noted.  This is also a time for us a council and for the Mayor to look at 

alternative energy sources so we don’t have to keep squeezing, are one of these days, are we going to 

have to ration gas for our police officers? I hope not. We have to do everything we can to stay vocal on 



  DRAFT 

14 
 

why we need to change the way we are doing business so we can cut the cost of government, and fuel is a 

big part of our government. 

 

 Councilwoman Baughman stated I agree with what you are saying, and I agree with Councilman 

Curry and Councilman Mishler, however inflation is real and as Councilman Curry mentioned you take 

away the gas tax and the oil companies will continue to raise the price of gas, it’s a moot point. We don’t 

control that. In the past year, gasoline is up 48.7%, so it’s not only if you drive a car, it’s if you buy food, 

airfare is up 37.8%, household energy is up 19.1%, food at home up 11.9% and rent is up 5.2%. Inflation 

is real, the federal government printed trillions of dollars and we are seeing the impact of that. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I appreciate Councilman Mishler bringing the resolution, I think we all 

agree it is ceremonial, the governor can’t manage that. I think that is appropriate as well. I would suggest 

to all of us that the government does not give out free money. It’s taking your future money and paying it 

back in the form of inflation, even if Indiana got a pass on some tax under some emergent situation, I 

don’t think truckers outside of the region are going to lower prices. I think we agree this this is 

ceremonious, and I would hope though that the lesson we learn is that free federal money isn’t free, there 

is a cost, and we should be investing it, as opposed to just spending it. We can take that down to the 

households that took the money and bought something bigger and didn’t put money aside for the days that 

are going to come. We talk about an economic slowdown, we get hit first, we recover last, welcome to 

Elkhart, Indiana. We are entering that phase again, we are spending, and it’s not what you make, it’s what 

you save and it’s important we understand that as well. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated I talked with Aaron earlier today and we had a good discussion. I did 

ask him if we could pull this resolution and re-write it to include some things, we could do to help curb 

inflation and other things we can do, but he wanted to go ahead with this, and I respect that. To disagree a 

little bit, as far as trucking cost, inflation and pricing is economics 101. The last part of Councilman 

Bullard’s comment was not audible on the recording. 

 

 Councilwoman Baughman stated the great resolution would be to write something that 

encourages the state to make I-65, I-70 and I-465 a toll road. 

 

 There being no further discussion from the council, President Dawson called for the vote to adopt 

the resolution and the vote was as follows: Ayes: Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish and Dawson. 

Nays: Bullard, Baughman, and Henke. The motion carried, 6-3, and the resolution was adopted.  

  

 

Vacation Hearings 

 

 There were no vacation hearings.  

 

 

Other New Business 

 

 Councilman Henke stated it is nice to see the brush pick up truck out. Mr. Kline was the one that 

came to my neighborhood, very nice young man, very professional and I said what goes wrong with these 

trucks and he stopped, and he said you see that big cylinder there? I just got this thing back and it is 

already leaking and the cylinder at the other end was leaking and it’s like what are we doing, are we 

buying the right stuff, are we using it appropriately, it just seems like they are down a lot. I did appreciate 

the fact that he was professional, hospitable. There have been a few more trucks in the neighborhood 

lately and I think they are monitoring the cable going in the ground, there are a lot of markings on the 



  DRAFT 

15 
 

street. I appreciate the fact that we can see these things working and coming together, but especially the 

brush trucks, they were very welcoming.  

 

 Councilman Bullard stated driving through town this Saturday, there was a lot of people walking 

around downtown and the planters downtown are beautiful. I was stopped because they were picking up 

cones and stuff and I stopped to talk to Norm Anderson and just a shoutout to the Emergency 

Management and like Chief said, those members are volunteers and he was out there working and 

directing traffic on a beautiful day. He was out there making the events such as Rhapsody and the Color 

Run fantastic and downtown looks great and a shoutout to the great volunteers. 

 

 Councilman Mishler stated thank you for mentioning downtown and this past Friday, I was 

amazed at all the things going on in downtown Elkhart, with Rhapsody in full swing and the library 

having their rock on the roof thing and it was great to see crowds down there, as well as an independent 

artist get together on Main Street was really showing how full of life and art Elkhart really is, which is 

also really exciting leading into the Jazz Fest. 

 

 Councilman Curry stated I just want to thank Councilwoman Hines for going with me to check 

out the situation we had on Garfield, and I want to thank the Chief and Officer Young who came and did 

a great investigation and it’s working when we reach out and work together. 

 

Reports of the Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Department Heads 

 

 Rod Roberson, Mayor, stated the only thing I want to bring to your attention is that there were 

27,100 people at Rhapsody over the two days. We expected 10,000 people and we got 27,000. I just want 

to emphasize the kind of summer we are going to have, and I keep talking about it, but it is actually 

happening. It was amazing how well disciplined the crowd was. I think it’s very important to note, it’s not 

just the police work, but it is all other volunteers, it’s Buildings and Grounds, it’s all of you who are out, 

those out wearing our colors, making sure people know that you are there, and people project themselves 

in a way that makes sense. 27,000 people for our first event heading into what we think will be very 

strong weather and it will cooperate with us for Jazz fest. I want to make sure you all come out and we are 

doing multiple different activities throughout the Jazz Fest. 

 

 Councilman Curry stated Mayor, what about the pavilion dedication? Mayor Roberson stated yes, 

we dedicated the Island Park Pavilion to Ken Cantzler and for those of you that don’t know, he was the 

superintendent for 30 years of our Parks Department. Most of the park system that we currently know 

today was orchestrated, designed and managed by Ken Cantzler. There were around 50 people at his 

dedication, and everyone had a story. It was an amazing tribute to a man that dedicated himself to the 

parks. 

 

 Councilman Bullard asked the Mayor about cooling centers and Corrine Straight, 

Communications Director, stated I have been working on this with Kristi and for now we are encouraging 

people to go to the library because the library is offering itself as a cooling station and we are looking at 

our staffing capability to allow our pavilions to be cooling stations as well and if that is a decision we are 

able to make, we will send out that information tomorrow. 

 

Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

 There were no reports from Neighborhood Associations. 

    

 

 



  DRAFT 

16 
 

Privilege of the Floor 

 

 There were no comments from the public. 

 

Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 President Dawson stated I am negotiating a policy team and the team for the negotiations will 

consist of Councilman Curry and Councilwoman Baughman and we need to make sure when we schedule 

these policy meetings that Councilman Curry can do early breakfast or after six. Also, Councilman Henke 

will be getting with Kristin Smole to prepare for tax abatements for the Ad-Hoc Tax Abatement 

committee. 

  

 

Acceptance of Communications 

 

Minutes of May 17, 2022 Board of Public Works Meeting 

Minutes of May 11, 2022 Lerner Theatre Board Meeting 

 

 Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept communications, 

which motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

Adjournment 

 

 Councilman Mishler, seconded by Councilman Thomas, moved to adjourn the meeting, which 

motion carried, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned.  

 

 

 

 

 

              

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk     Arvis Dawson 

        President of the Elkhart City Council 



  DRAFT 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING OF  

JULY 11, 2022  

 

Present:  Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, Tonda 

Hines (arrived late), Dwight Fish and David Henke 

 

Absent:  Councilwoman Megan Baughman 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-streamed 

on Facebook. All council members were present in Council Chambers 

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart. 

 

 Councilman Bullard led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance and President Dawson asked 

for a moment of silent reflection. 

 

The clerk called the roll. 

 

Minutes for Approval 

 

There were no minutes for approval. 

 

Presentations or Introductions 

 

 Mayor, Rod Roberson, introduced Charlie Schultz. Charlie is the former funeral director from 

Hartzler-Gutermuth. Charlie has accepted the role as Cemetery Director and he will be starting 

immediately. 

 

 Bradley Tracy, Chief of Staff, stated I would like to also introduce Danielle Neal. Danielle is the 

latest edition to the Mayor’s office and she is an administrative assistant and will be assisting both 

Corrine and I going forward.  

 

 Mayor Roberson stated we have a presentation from our 311 Coordinator. LaShawn Brooks, 311 

Coordinator stated I am excited about this opportunity for the City of Elkhart. We are starting off with a 

plan to provide a point person in each department that will handle all 311’s that come to that department. 

Additional training has begun with our new 311 and it comes on three levels, the Executive Team, the 

Department Heads, and that individual person that will train. We are doing department training and one-

on-one training for those persons that will be handling it. Our training development consists of 

implementing our 311 into our daily workflow. Also, how and when we respond to a 311 that comes into 

the system, educating the citizens on how municipal government works and breaking the barriers between 

the citizen and municipal government. We will be sharing our process for citizens knowledge such as 

scheduled days of services, notices and timeframe for response, and next steps for when a violation has 

been received. Community training will consist of popups, which we recently held one at the Housing 

Authority, where we will come out and teach the citizens how 311 works and how to utilize that app. We 

will continue marketing efforts, which one that you all should have received, is the community meetings 

that will be held, Let’s Talk Tuesday. That is another opportunity for us to go out to the streets and 

communicate and talk and discuss with the citizens. Our website and mobile application are some of the 

accessibilities of 311. All departments and staff readily available through desktop to input requests, all 

field employees that have an electronic telephone device or iPad will be readily available to put any 311’s 



  DRAFT 

2 
 

they see in the community. We will be introducing 311 Landline, for people that still have a landline, they 

can just call 311and that will come directly to us. We will also introduce our ability to text and that will 

come to us in a form of an email what that concern is or request. 

  

 At this time, Councilwoman Hines entered council chambers. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Reports of Council Committees 

 

 President Dawson stated the Finance Committee-of-the-Whole, met on Monday, June 27th, to 

discuss Proposed Ordinance 21-O-46-R in which $500,000.00 is being transferred from the ARP 

Coronavirus Recovery fund to the Negative Economic Impact account for the Homeowner Occupied 

Rehabilitation program and the committee gave this a do-pass recommendation. 

 

 

Ordinances on Second-Third Reading 

 

Ordinance # 5918   

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00/100 DOLLARS 

($500,000) FROM THE GENERAL FUND TO THE REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE-OTHER 

ACCOUNT FOR THE DOWNTOWN MAIN STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance 22-O-28, by title only. Councilman Fish, seconded by 

Councilwoman Hines, moved to pass the proposed ordinance on second reading. President Dawson 

opened the floor for council discussion and Tory Irwin, City Engineer, stated this request is for 

$500,000.00 to repair various locations on downtown Main Street from Jackson to Middlebury. We have 

a number of locations where the brick pavers, which look nice, but the minute they start to shift, they 

throw the sidewalk ramps out of ADA compliance and become a trip hazard to the public. We have 

several areas where the concrete landscape has fallen off or gotten hit and those areas need to be repaired 

for the landscape beds. We did an inspection on the sign and the canopy, water has been leaking down the 

columns for the canopy and they have eroded away the ports and we need to do some welding and repairs 

on the canopy structural support. We are going to be doing some new lighting on the underside of the 

parking area beneath Civic Plaza and there are a number of areas where we have some concrete curb to 

asphalt that needs repaired. In order to keep Main Street looking nice for the public, we are looking for 

this appropriation to do a bunch of repairs.  

 

 Councilman Bullard stated any thoughts on reengineering some of this stuff so cars won’t damage 

some of this? Mr. Irwin stated there is not much I can do about the landscape planter beds. It would be 

great if the cars wouldn’t hop the curb and hit them. The sidewalk ramps we are going to reengineer and 

not use brick pavers, we will use stamp concrete so they don’t have the chance to settle and we won’t 

have this issue with the brick pavers. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated what is your timeline? Mr. Irwin stated we would like, assuming the 

council gets this approved tonight, we intend to get this bid out and hopefully the repairs will be done this 

year. We are going to work around the big downtown events and we will limit which areas they can work 

on. We don’t want them closing all of the sidewalks down at once. Councilman Fish stated and this will 

all be done by a third party? Mr. Irwin stated it will be done by a contractor, it will not be done in house. 



  DRAFT 

3 
 

 Councilman Thomas stated are we satisfied with the efforts to safeguard the corner where the 

Lerner is, from people running into that planter or in front of the Lerner. Mr. Irwin stated we could do 

some more to harden that area, but anything we do is aesthetically, not going to look very good. The only 

way to keep people from driving where they are not supposed to is to put in bollards and we could make 

them black, but that is really the only way I can keep people from driving sidewalks, hitting buildings and 

planter beds. Councilman Thomas stated any adjustments to that? Mr. Irwin stated that was not included 

in this. Councilman Thomas stated according to this map, you’ve got two yellow circles and a cross on 

the northside of Jackson, is that a mistake? Mr. Irwin stated no, those are the ramps that are at the Jackson 

intersection.  

 

 Councilman Henke stated our downtown has been transplanted a few times, from angled parking 

to straight parking, from planters to no planters, we have been around awhile. Even the emblem in front 

of this building has come and gone and needed extra repairs. It may be a good idea but the labor involved 

and repairs, just make it very costly and I would just hope that we would look at downtown for the 

longevity and safety and not so much maintenance. That is more of a comment but for example in 2001, 

when the medians were put in by Hacienda, there was no irrigation attached and I see our three workers 

per truck going out and watering and it’s just a misuse of tax dollars in my mind. We should have done 

the right thing the first time, so I just hope we would look at managing the operational overhead of these 

improvements and to make sure for the long run they still make financial sense. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated this will be bid out and this $500,000.00 will it be up to $500,000.00? 

Mr. Irwin stated my hope is that this $500,000.00 is enough to hit all of the spots on the map and the other 

repairs I have noted. Our estimate is enough to cover all of this, but until we put the bid out, I won’t know 

for sure, but it will be an up to amount, yes. 

 

 President Dawson stated that was my concern Tory, will this money be enough based on where 

we are right now, with inflation and all the projects listed, so I know it should be, but I don’t want anyone 

to be surprised if its not when it comes back. Mr. Irwin stated it should get us close and then if we don’t 

have enough, we will see what we can do with ADA money and there are some other funds available. 

President Dawson stated I think we all agree it needs to be done, it’s just the cost. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated and none of this would be more cost effective by having staff, 

Buildings and Grounds, someone doing it from inside? Mr. Irwin stated so our staff does not have the 

capability of doing stamped concrete and forming landscape beds. We certainly could look into that, but it 

could take away from some of the other projects we do, such as sidewalk repair. 

 

 President Dawson opened the floor for public discussion and there being no comments from the 

public, President Dawson returned the discussion to the council. There being no further discussion from 

the council, President Dawson called for the vote to pass the proposed ordinance on second reading. The 

vote was as follows: Ayes: Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Henke and Dawson. Nays: 

None. The motion carried, 8-0, and the ordinance was passed on second reading.  

 

 Councilman Henke, seconded by Councilwoman Hines, moved to adopt the ordinance on third 

reading. The clerk read the proposed ordinance 22-O-28, by title only and the vote was as follows: Ayes: 

Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Henke and Dawson. Nays: None. The motion carried, 8-

0, the ordinance was adopted.  

 

  

 

 

 



  DRAFT 

4 
 

Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

 

 

Ordinance # 5917   

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND AND 00\100 DOLLARS 

($500,000) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE 

NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT FOR THE HOMEOWNER-OCCUPIED 

PROPERTY REHABILITATION PROGRAM 

 

The clerk read proposed ordinance, 21-O-46-R, by title only. Councilman Mishler, seconded by 

Councilman Fish, moved to pass the proposed ordinance on second reading. President Dawson opened 

the floor for council discussion and Mary Kaczka, Director of Community Development, stated the one 

change we made was the 10% to projects for people between 100% and 120% AMI, so those folks would 

have to put their dollars in first for the project before these dollars would come in. 

 

Councilman Henke stated we were sold on impact and this could impact as little as 12.8 homes 

and it could impact 16 or even 20 homes, but with regard to real impact, its not there. I don’t know how 

we justify fairness to the rest of the community, how do we measure the negative impact of COVID, 

every household and every business had a negative impact. I need you to address how do we appropriate 

funds to certain homes and we don’t obligate them to bring those same homes up to current code, that 

should be a concern of liability for the City, since there will be some inspections and it obligates us in 

some way to be in part, having overseen those projects, since we are reimbursing it. I have an issue with 

all of those pieces. The fairness, the subjective measure and then they don’t have to insure the home, they 

only have had to live there for three months or greater and the liability moving forward. They could 

actually take the increase and sell the property. I’m not sure what we are doing here, this is just not well 

thought out at all and how can you help me? Ms. Kaczka stated you have mentioned a lot of aspects about 

the program, some are accurate, and some are not. First, the program is targeted to individual 

homeowners who live in the qualified census tracks, they will have a priority and folks that are at the 

lower AMI, have priority and folks that are in QCT’s and are disproportionately impacted and therefore 

do not need to prove any more COVID impact, but other individuals that are higher up the AMI, must 

document they were impacted by COVID, they lost their jobs, or had to stay home with children who 

couldn’t be in school or kids who couldn’t go into daycare. To some extent I think some people are still 

struggling with those impacts today. As far as insurance, we are only waiving insurance as it relates to 

funds that would be used for emergency improvements up to $5,000.00, those individuals would be 

waived for property insurance, and everyone else would need to prove property insurance. Councilman 

Henke stated income is not a true indicator of cash flow to a household, it’s a matter of debt load, so to 

say that Franklin Street and South Main Street are more than impacted, and that’s not a true measure 

whatsoever. These target areas, are they not already in the CDBG district? The answer is obviously yes, 

so they have access to nearly $780,000.00 a year through CDBG and we have been running that program 

for nearly 30 years, and by the way, those areas that do CDBG are still the least desirable, are still the 

least recovery of property taxes, still draw down the average assessed value of the whole city and what do 

we do? We are going to put $500,000.00 into an area that already says and speaks to that we don’t code 

enforce that area. We didn’t bring up the neighborhood at all and we are not obligating anyone to do 

anything. 

 

President Dawson stated those of us that are around that district have seen great improvements 

from CDBG, they are not always visual. People think you have to see everything, but if I can go inside 

and give you a new furnace, or move your washer or dryer from downstairs to upstairs that helps your 

quality of life, which helps you do other things. I would think that CDBG has made a great effort at 

updating those neighborhoods. 



  DRAFT 

5 
 

 

Councilman Curry stated is this program city wide? Ms. Kaczka stated yes. Councilman Curry 

stated for CDBG, I think people need to realize where those boundaries are because a lot of those 

boundaries are north of the river. This is an opportunity for people that really need help to get help, so I 

will be supporting this and I think its fair and it is open to everyone in our city that needs help. It will help 

stabilize a lot of neighborhoods when people need a roof or a furnace and I am glad we are doing this 

program. 

 

President Dawson closed the council floor and opened the floor for public discussion. There 

being no comments from the public, President Dawson returned the discussion to the council floor. 

 

Councilman Bullard stated like I said in the Finance Committee meeting, I listen to a Sunday 

morning show and they had a panel and they asked the panel how these different communities were using 

their ARP money and they went through infrastructure, water replacements, fiber optic… all these cities 

listed these investment type spending and none of them at all, listed targeted spending to individual 

homes and yes we have done some ARP spending, investing in sewers and that type of stuff, but like 

David said, I think this is targeted. I would like to see if we spend this money, what will it look like in 

five years? When I am talking to planning and development, they are always talking about improving 

these houses and getting people to move in, but this is not an improvement that will convince people to 

move in.  

 

Councilman Henke stated I go by measurable data and if we have put over $20 Million Dollars in 

the past 28 years into the CDBG to the area where people feel as though and then count on that 

government money to manage their household. I would also suggest, it’s a matter of philosophy that the 

bulk, by a large measure of CDBG area has to be a democrat, long-standing, controlled area. That’s a fact. 

 

Councilman Fish stated my district is benefiting from both CDBG grant money and potentially 

this ordinance and I was talking to the lady who has called you many times about fireworks and 

everything else and she wants to move out of the district and I said what do we need to do to help you 

stay in your house, besides the fireworks, besides the loud noises and the speeders on Indiana, but through 

the long conversation I had, I talked about a program that would help her improve her house because she 

complained about her roof, about a garage. Long story short, I have her and her neighbor that are very 

interested in program, this particular program, to replace furnaces, where they otherwise could not afford 

to do it. Their quality of life will go up, their safety in their homes will go up, their resale value of their 

home will go up, and you can talk about democratic this and the favoritism here but I look at this as 

purely another way to directly help all the citizens across the city and if we don’t jump on it, it will go 

away. It is a good way to get in touch with the people that vote us into office, democrat or republican and 

it’s a very good cost saving to the government because we are doing something to improve quality of life 

and homes. 

 

Councilman Mishler stated I will just remind all of us on council that we voted for the $2.3 

Million in workforce housing to attract new homes and homeowners into our community. Many of us 

voted for a small business grant that has helped around 20 small businesses with more applying every 

day. We have already worked together to attract new residents to our community, we have rezoned for 

nearly 80 new housing units, both market rate and based on AMI, so we are doing everything we can to 

bring people into our city, but what are we actually doing to help those that actually live here? Helping 

our seniors, helping our disabled veterans, those that are on fixed income? I will also remind folks that 

those in this area generally produce the most tax revenue for the city due to the density in that community, 

so we are helping the tax base in the city as well, we are improving their lives and helping them with the 

necessities that they might not be otherwise able to afford and are caused by losing a job, or being 

impacted by COVID. This is what government is about, we are helping people and improving our tax 



  DRAFT 

6 
 

base and supporting our community. It was mentioned what are the long-term benefits in our community? 

Well if we improve the property values in those neighborhoods that means more income for schools, that 

means better schools in our community, that means more reasons for folks to move to our community. 

We are doing this not as a handout, but as a way to help those in our community and help the very heart 

of our community and as such I will be voting in support of this. 

 

Councilman Thomas stated I keep coming back from one number and its twelve, 12.6. You all 

keep adding s’s to the end, it’s seniors, its veterans, its people in subsidized housing, 12.6 houses is not 

enough bang for my bucks. If you want to help them refer them to Church Community Services, refer 

them to Council on Aging, refer them to a service group. I would be glad to help someone build a roof on 

their porch. It’s not enough effect for me to be in support of it. 

 

Councilman Henke stated I want to go by measures and Dick Moore said it really well, in order 

for government to give something away it has to take from someone else and that is where my district 

comes in. You are incorrect Mr. Mishler, when we go about property values, it takes on average, six 

assessed values in the fifth district to measure the property tax at my house alone. With that said, you 

can’t say because of density. That density, according to the Ball State Study that we had here, that density 

actually takes the value down of every property in our city, it devalues those up here, because those down 

here are bringing everything down and what do we do? We put another expensive band aid on and 

through CDBG, we know that system doesn’t work, so we will just add more money with no greater 

accountability, and we are going to get what? We are putting $20 Million Dollars, in a particular area, 

including Tolson, and we are expecting change. I will tell you according to today’s standards, it is not 

working. I’m looking at everybody’s money and we are taking it away from some people to give it to a 

select group of people and that’s the reality. 

 

Councilman Curry stated for the record, the 5th district, a majority of it, is not in the CDBG area. 

It stops at Lusher, so we are not eligible for those funds. When you talk about it takes six households to 

equal one, we have Bent Oak in our district, so I don’t think so. We have the only golf course in the City 

and we have invested millions and millions of dollars on County Road 6 and the Cassopolis Corridor and 

when we want to reach out and help some that are not fortunate to be big time investors on County Road 

6, and we cut them a sweet deal, you voted for it. Here we want to help some of the little people in our 

City. We are not talking about maximizing every applicant that applies for this. It would be 12 or 13 

people we would be helping, but we don’t know what their needs are, we don’t know what that 

application will look like. We have helped many people over the years when it comes to the whole city 

and when it comes to a project like this, it’s good we can get federal money to come back because we pay 

federal taxes from Elkhart, Indiana. I am in favor of this, it’s a good program and it’s something we 

should do. 

 

Councilman Bullard stated I just want to remind everyone that this hit the council back in 

September and I kind of agree with Brian. It is just not enough reach for this type of money. I would 

rather see improving and bringing houses up to Code. Yes, these houses will be receiving money but there 

will be an area of that house not brought up to Code. I do appreciate all the work Planning and 

Development has put in this, but I think them knowing some of us are critical of this ordinance, that they 

will do a good job to keep us informed. I would just like to see a little more bang for the buck. 

 

Councilwoman Hines stated I think it is clear we have differences, however this is going to 

benefit the City and if I am not mistaken, this is not limited to one targeted area.  

 

At this time, President Dawson closed council discussion and asked for the vote to pass the 

proposed ordinance on second reading and the vote was as follows: Ayes: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish and 



  DRAFT 

7 
 

Dawson. Nays: Bullard, Thomas, and Henke. The motion carried, 5-3, and the ordinance was passed 

on second reading.  

 

Councilman Mishler, seconded by Councilwoman Hines, moved to adopt the proposed 

ordinance on third reading. The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 21-O-46-R, by title only, and the 

vote was as follows: Ayes: Curry, Mishler, Hines, Fish and Dawson. Nays: Bullard, Thomas, and Henke. 

The motion carried, 5-3, and the ordinance was adopted.  

 

   

Proposed Ordinance 21-O-49 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING THREE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND 

THREE HUNDRED AND FIFTY DOLLARS ($322,350.00) FROM THE ARP CORONAVIRUS 

LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND TO THE NEGATIVE ECONOMIC IMPACT ACCOUNT 

FOR THE ELKHART THRIVE NEIGHBORHOOD OPPORTUNITY HUB INITIATIVE  

 

President Dawson stated proposed ordinance, 21-O-49, remains in committee.  

 

 

Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-09 

 

 AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE 

NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS 

AMENDED, TO REZONE 309 STAINLESS DRIVE, ELKHART, INDIANA BY REMOVING 

THE EXISTING ZONING RESTRICTION, WHICH PROHIBITS ACCESS TO THE 

PROPERTY FROM COUNTY ROAD 19 

 

 President Dawson stated proposed ordinance 22-O-09 remains tabled.  

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Ordinances on First Reading 

 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-19-R 

 

AN ORDINANCE READOPTING ORDINANCE NO. 5907 TO APPROPRIATE SIX HUNDRED 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($600,000) FROM THE CUMULATIVE CAPITAL FIRE EQUIPMENT 

FUND TO THE MOTOR EQUIPMENT ACCOUNT FOR THE PURCHASE OF A FIRE 

APPARATUS FOR THE ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-19-R, by title only. President Dawson stated this 

ordinance was passed on May 16th, but due to a publication error it is back on the agenda, and we will be 

passing it on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson then passed the ordinance onto second reading. 

 

 

 



  DRAFT 

8 
 

Proposed Ordinance 22-O-20-R 

 

 AN ORDINANCE READOPTING ORDINANCE NO. 5908 TO TRANSFER NINETY-TWO 

THOUSAND DOLLARS ($92,000) FROM THE COVID-19 AVIATION GRANT FUND AND 

FIFTY-NINE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($59,000) FROM THE AVIATION FEDERAL GRANT 

FUND TO THE AVIATION GENERAL FUND AND APPROPRIATING THE SAME FOR THE 

OPERATIONAL AND SAFETY NEEDS OF THE ELKHART MUNICIPAL AIRPORT 

  

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance, 22-O-20-R, by title only. President Dawson stated this 

ordinance was passed on May 16th, but due to a publication error it is back on the agenda, and we will be 

passing it on second reading. 

 

 President Dawson then passed the ordinance onto second reading. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I should have said something on 22-O-19-R, but on the fire apparatus, 

is there an urgency on this one? President Dawson stated when Angie and I talked to Jamie there wasn’t, 

but is Jamie around? Is there a timing issue or are we okay with this? 

 

 Jamie Arce, City Controller, stated we are okay with it running the standard course. 

 

 

Resolutions 

 

Proposed Resolution 22-R-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART EXPRESSING 

INTEREST IN THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE 

SOUTHEAST CORNER OF CR 106 AND WOODLAND ESTATES DRIVE 

 

 The clerk read the proposed resolution 22-R-22, by title only. Councilwoman Hines, seconded by 

Councilman Fish, moved to adopt the proposed resolution. President Dawson opened the floor for council 

discussion.  

 

 Councilman Henke stated I tried to locate this and I would like some clarification. The way this 

reads, and I was looking for the acreage involved and if I knew that, then I would know how close this is 

to the Osolo Fire Department. Kristi Sommer, Division Chief, Elkhart Fire Department, stated if you go 

down County Road 11 to 106, you have Woodland Estates right there, that subdivision. Councilman 

Henke stated I need to know how close we are to Osolo. My concern is we are very close to Osolo Fire 

Department and there was discussion about us taking action in that area to include that department in the 

City limits. I would like to have that fully vested before we add more money. I am concerned about fire 

trucks getting out back and forth in a two-lane residential area, that concerns me greatly and then the 

noise in the residential area, when we actually have vacant areas on County Road 6, we have vacant 

property more towards County Road 13 and a little bit east. I am trying so fire trucks don’t routinely 

come down Jeanwood Drive and County Road 13, because that is the only way back. I think a real traffic 

study has to happen or we will devalue that area. There is plenty of land and buildings that we could look 

at. The big question in front of us is, what’s Osolo Fire Department going to do, what are we going to do 

with them, but to duplicate two different stations in that area when we are not concluded on future 

combination, unless you can speak to that. Chief Sommer stated I cannot speak to the Osolo Fire talks at 

this time. I can speak about that property; we are doing different studies with the traffic pattern. It’s not 

that far from the intersection of Osolo Road and County Road 106 or Henke Drive. Councilman Henke 

stated the neighborhood is going to grieve that. Chief Sommer stated we have looked at a lot of 



  DRAFT 

9 
 

properties. Councilman Henke stated do you realize how close this is to Osolo Fire Department, you 

could throw a stone. 

 

 Mayor Roberson stated yes we have met with the Osolo Township Fire Department and this 

particular station and what we want to do with this station does not impact them and the reason why is 

because we are taking a look at our annexation plans moving forward and we are positioning our stations 

in order to ensure they are relevant to them. In addition to that, the land they currently have, it would not 

be appropriate for us to begin with to build this station that will fit those current annexation plans. We 

knew the type of station we need, in order to absorb the area and the commercial we are going to have, as 

we continue to annex, was a space that we thought would fit better than the current land they have, which 

is nestled in a residential area. There are other conversations we are having with them that should be 

encouraging, this acquisition would not impact what they are doing as we speak. We have never found a 

fire station to devalue a community. When you put a station in a community, it normally either upgrades 

the community and increases the value, but it never devalues or deteriorates it. Councilman Henke stated I 

will let you know on Jeanwood, specifically, I have requested when there is no traffic, shut the sirens 

down. It’s all residential and when you are going to the nursing home, we have so much land there, that 

we dare not bring traffic to 13, the highest rent district of our City, 13, and yet we are capped out on 

traffic. If an ambulance comes down there you are fighting traffic to get through. Now County Road 11 

has a stop sign in the middle and it is narrow and a lot of workers go down to 6 and 4 as well. The traffic 

is horrendous. How many yards away from your proposed land, is that department?  

 

 Shaun Edgerton, Fire Chief, stated I think you are confused with where we are talking back in 

relation to County Road 106. We are talking about just east of Osolo Road on Henke Drive and it is the 

wooded area on the southside of the road, east of Woodlawn Estates. Through our conversations with 

architects and engineers, the proposed structure would be buffered from the residential area by the natural 

coverage of the woods. In relation to Osolo Fire, Osolo Fire is in proximity to that location, but their 

current facility would not support the Elkhart Fire Department in any way shape or form and to be 

perfectly honest, our plans with relation to our annexations are separate from any plans that would 

involve Osolo Township. That is an ongoing negotiation and it will either come to fruition or it won’t, but 

from the standpoint of the Elkhart Fire Department, we are moving forward in order to protect the citizens 

of Elkhart.  

 

 Councilman Henke stated when you turn east on 106, is it before the creek or after the creek? 

Chief Edgerton stated it is before the creek. Councilman Henke stated we had a proposal to expand 

apartments at that very same location and the Woodlawn neighbors brought in their own legal team and 

we were able to shut that down due to traffic alone and now we are trying to put a fire department there. I 

can tell you that when I make a call through to them tonight, this will be significant issue and my concern 

is as well that it is that much closer to the Elkhart Airport fire department and we have to ask ourselves, 

aren’t we boxing ourselves in, when the reality is we are going east, we are going out to County Road 17. 

Chief Sommer stated we did a station study with a fire study company and out east going north, that is 

going to be whole separate station, that doesn’t even over what 6 is. Councilman Henke stated so we will 

have four fire stations, three city and one Osolo County Road 6. Chief Sommer stated if you look at the 

studies we have done on response time, on ambulance coverage and fire truck coverage, you need this, 

you need this coverage. 

 

 Councilman Thomas stated are the studies in this resolution? Chief Sommer state I’m not sure if 

they put them in there. Councilman Thomas stated I can tell you they are not and it would be nice to see 

those studies. Secondly, have you talked specifically to the Woodland Estates association? Anybody? 

Chief Sommer stated I don’t believe so, not yet. Councilman Thomas stated then you got a problem. 

 



  DRAFT 

10 
 

 Councilman Mishler stated how much will this improve response time, compared to where the 

station currently is? Chief Sommer stated the response time, I don’t know a couple of minutes, but we are 

more centrally located so we will be able to go out to the west, to the east, and down to the south faster 

and the station at Station 6, we need an ambulance in that territory and right now we don’t have one out 

there, we have one responding from downtown. That station at Osolo and Bristol Street has one bay and 

no room to expand and we need room to expand. Councilman Mishler stated two minutes might not seem 

like a lot, but that is quite a bit of time considering if it’s a life or death situation. Second, the Osolo 

Township Board does not typically respond to anything within the City limits, unless the Elkhart Fire 

Department asks through an interlocal agreement and I assume it is the same with them. For me, the idea 

of Osolo Fire being involved in this doesn’t make any sense since we don’t normally work with them and 

they don’t normally work with us, unless it is a larger issue. This seems like it will help reduce response 

time and I understand there are concerns from the neighborhood, but Station 5 is in a residential area in 

my district and I have never received any complaints from my area about fire trucks and ambulances 

going in and out of there to save lives. 

 

 Councilman Curry stated I was looking at the report about the number of calls the Fire 

Department and Police Department addressed in the month of May, it was over 800, could we break those 

down by which area was responded to in the future and that way we would know how many calls are out 

east or down south. In my district we have Station 2, and it is a gem in our neighborhood. We appreciate 

having that there and we would never want it moved. It sits right at Benham and Lusher. It adds value to 

our residential neighborhood because we feel safer. People are happy they are close by, I have never 

heard any negatives about it being right there in our neighborhood and we appreciate it being there. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated I wonder if it might be appropriate if we tabled this, so we can look at 

the study and get some input from Woodland Estates and look at this a little closer. Once we pass this 

resolution, it will probably be out of our hands. I would like to have a more in-depth look at this. 

 

 Councilman Thomas stated I just sent out message, has anyone from the administration talked to 

you out there about putting a fire station at 106 on the corner of your subdivision and one simple answer. 

No. That is from a member of Woodland Estates. President Dawson stated how many members are out 

there? Councilman Thomas stated there is probably 60 houses and they all belong to the association.  

  

Councilman Henke stated it would be one thing if we were landlocked and this is the only place we can 

go and it’s not. We are going East and it would be nice to know in the next ten years, how far east are we 

going and what is our plan for annexation and that should tell us how far east a station should go. To me 

that is critical. A study has to happen. Second, if you don’t bring the neighbors into it, I can tell you what 

is going to happen and there will be an injunction. That’s what they do, they have proven it already and 

we haven’t even included them in conversation and I will contribute to the cause. 

 

 Chief Edgerton stated there has been a study done, we have spent an inordinate amount of money 

and an inordinate amount of time, doing the study in order to project exactly where station locations 

should be and this location is the location that was outlined in this study, along with a location farther 

east, in order to rectify those issues with annexation farther east in the future. I will be more happy to 

provide that study so everyone can have a chance to look at it. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated we got this in the last week. Woodland has never been talked to yet, let 

alone Eastlake Estates, Eastlake Manor, all impacted by this, all residential, all high tax paying people and 

we haven’t talked to any of them. This is a mistake and it shouldn’t happen in my district and I hope it 

doesn’t happen in anyone else’s district. I am asking if we could table this to which point we can actually 

bring these people in and look at the alternatives. I am not interested in what the study says where we are 

geographically today, I am after where we will be in the next ten years. 



  DRAFT 

11 
 

 Councilwoman Hines, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to table the proposed 

resolution. President Dawson called for a roll call vote on the motion to table and the vote was as 

follows: Ayes: Bullard, Mishler, Hines, Fish, Henke, and Dawson. Nays: Curry and Thomas. The motion 

carried, 6-2, and the resolution was tabled.  

 

Vacation Hearings 

 

 There were no vacation hearings.  

 

 

Other New Business 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I have called into 311, but on my way in tonight, on Benham Avenue, 

there are six cars in front yards, and two motor homes on the side of garages, on Benham, between 

Mishawaka and Hively. Thank you for entering those, but I think you said Cleveland and its Benham. 

There are eight houses with weeds overgrown, grass, trash between Benham, Hively and Lusher. There 

were gunshots, that people sent to me on a recording at 922 Taylor and could not get a police response 

even though her video clearly defines the shots and she sent them to me. Whether it is true or not, we 

can’t have it. Shots fired in our city, have to be responded to. She has the video so we should address it. I 

also question, the mustang squad car, a new black and white mustang, I thought for safety we were going 

to, and this council has been approving, the SUV’s for safety of officers. As you all know, mustangs don’t 

meet the winter well and wet surfaces they don’t do well. I would like responses back on that as well. I 

also want to say that I made a mistake and I want to own it. We voted on the apprenticeship program 

through the Union and it was outlined here, I voted for it and it was a mistake. I have been called from 

other businesses, we just drove prices up, taxpayer’s money, we drove prices up, there is no competition, 

it’s union price and now they have cornered that market. Shame on you guys for bringing it, we should 

have had a deeper discussion and I blame myself for not asking the right questions. 

 

 Councilman Fish stated we got a notice of public hearing and I just want to make sure that people 

will show up for the Hively Avenue Local Tracks Project. It’s important at Hively and I just want to make 

sure we get a lot of opinions and people there to talk about it and fully process the information that the 

State and the City are going to present on Thursday, July 14th. The public hearing is at 6:00 and the open 

house starts at 5:00. It’s at Zion Missionary Church, 1135 East Hively Avenue, here in Elkhart. 

 

 Councilman Mishler stated I would like to commend the City for wonderful Fourth of July 

festivities downtown, Central Green was packed, the fireworks were wonderful, the food was delicious 

and it was great to see everyone in our diverse community come out and have a great time. Secondly, I 

have received a few questions from folks concerning wanting to have a garden on the side or in the front 

of their home. Currently they are not allowed by ordinance and I actually posted it on social media and it 

has more responses and views than just about anything I have posted before. Maybe it is something we 

can consider in the future, folks are concerned about rising food prices as well as wanting to grow their 

own food on their own property. 

 

 Councilman Thomas stated I would like to also commend the Fourth of July celebration, that was 

an amazing turnout. There was not a square inch of grass left on that park, I don’t think. Secondly, by a 

small percentage, the fireworks were not as bad this year. I think people were more concerned with the 

$5.00 a gallon gas than blowing up $5.00 worth of fireworks. 

 

 Councilman Bullard stated to follow through with David’s comment about police vehicles, we got 

that police car that sits out at Nappanee Street at the McDonald’s and then they moved it down to the 

restaurant and they are moving it back and forth and it’s an empty squad car. It’s all over Facebook that 



  DRAFT 

12 
 

this thing sits empty, it’s almost comical. I would suggest to put something in that, open up the radar and 

fool them again, but it’s quite comical to watch Facebook and everyone commenting on this empty squad 

car on Nappanee Street. 

 

 President Dawson stated Mr. Henke I can speak to that mustang. That mustang was the old Noise 

Ordinance Mustang, that Bogart use to drive. They wrapped it in black and white, but I thought the same 

thing and I went outside and Chief Snyder opened the door. They just wrapped it, it’s kind of like a 

community car.  

 

 President Dawson also stated that living downtown and the last Fourth of July weekend, Bike 

Night, everything is going on, but when I get up the next day, Sunday Morning, you wouldn’t even know 

there is an event downtown. If I get up and walk I will see some stuff but visually, you wouldn’t know 

there was an event downtown. I want to commend police, fire, street, everybody who does that because 

you do a great job and Kristi, I know, I watched you run around all weekend and it’s a stressful job, but 

we appreciate it. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated for communications and police, we have an ordinance that discusses 

street corner solicitation and we upgraded that. We have 17 calls for street corner solicitation, on 

Cassopolis Street, which we know, has been a traffic issue, the County has put a bunch of money in it, the 

State has put a bunch of money in sidewalks, that really didn’t do much. People are still walking across, 

but the bigger problem is, next to Arby’s, there is always someone there and a dog is tied to a tree, in the 

heat. In front of Menard’s there are two people in that spot, all the time. One is selling flowers and there is 

a guy behind Culver’s. I call that in routinely and I don’t think we take it seriously enough. It says you 

have to have a city permit and no one knows anything about them, because if they are hit on our streets, 

you know we will get a tort claim. I am just asking that we reiterate the ordinance back to the Police 

Department and these people need to follow those rules. We have done all we can do, to make Cassopolis 

safe, but street corner solicitation is something we cannot do. We do have a known prostitute in front of 

McDonald’s, don’t get them confused. Police know her and we would like her to move on. 

  

 

Reports of the Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Department Heads 

 

 Mayor Roberson stated I want to thank, not only Buildings and Grounds for the work they do, but 

this was one of the most attended weekends downtown that we have ever had and most people may not 

have noticed but there were over 600 kids and then you want to add all the families that were at the 

Aquatic Center for a swimming and diving championship that was held Saturday and Sunday. Bike Night 

was Saturday evening from about 4:00 to 10:00, and we had about two-thirds of the Lerner full with a 

concert. There was also a small event at the Hotel. This particular weekend was one of those times in 

which we were full and our police department and fire department were on duty, ensuring people arrived, 

stayed, had a good time, and left safely. I want to make sure that outside of the cleanup that occurred, and 

President Dawson is absolutely right, the City returns back to normal on Monday and Monday morning 

the people that are coming here to work, expect the City to look how it does and it is a tribute to Streets, 

Building and Grounds, and the Parks Department as well. Our police and fire were there and obviously 

since the event that happened in Highland, everyone was on high alert during that time as well. Any time 

there are public gatherings it has changed the context of how we make sure people are safe, so I want to 

thank them as well. Now we have the Auto Show this weekend and following the Auto Show, we will be 

headed towards the Go-Kart race, so we are still in the midst of events happening downtown and openings 

that are occurring with the river bend and the restaurant there has gone pretty well. We continue to do the 

things necessary to make Elkhart and the downtown a safe place to live, work and play. 

  

 



  DRAFT 

13 
 

Neighborhood Association Reports 

 

 President Curry stated the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association met yesterday and this time of 

the year we have our outdoor meetings to free up the pavilion because we know a lot of people use the 

pavilion for various graduations and weddings this time of the year. It was a very good meeting, and we 

are planning for our August 13th picnic that we will be inviting all of you to and just like Mr. Henke and 

his list at Benham, we have a list at Benham as well. The main issue we were addressing just last week 

was the Benham Corridor. We got with Code Enforcement because we were very concerned with people 

putting large ticket items out over the weekend and especially over holiday weekends. Also, we have been 

addressing some other issues and Officer Windmiller has been doing a great job along the Benham 

corridor to address those people who are blocking alleys and putting stuff out. One guy put out a no 

parking sign and put a stake in front of his house and was very concerned with people parking in front of 

his house. We appreciate everything Mr. Windmiller has done in the neighborhood. We want our 

neighborhood kept clean and for everyone to keep their property clean, especially on the main drags. 

    

 

Privilege of the Floor 

 

 Andy Jones, 2922 E. Jackson, stated Saturday I spent some time down here too at the Farmer’s 

Market and it is an outstanding event. This time I took a detour and ventured to Goshen to the Airshow at 

the Freedom Fest and it was a phenomenal show. It just reaffirmed to me the pent-up demand for 

airshows and people coming to airports. I know the Mayor and I have been talking about an event we 

would like to do at the airport next year. We may talk about it a little bit more at budget time. I just 

wanted to know that we would love to have some aviation themed events at the airport and we will be 

doing some. I bet they had 30,000 people there at that event, it was phenomenal. Hats off to Goshen for 

their airshow. 

 

 Steve Robinson, member of the public, stated this mask is what we see in my neighborhood. This 

is what young men and women are wearing in my neighborhood and they are shooting guns and this is 

what we are faced with. I went to a couple of council members and told them about my concerns and it 

seemed like it was a joke to them, so I figured I needed to come down here. I speak about the gun 

violence happening in my neighborhood in South Central. Young people walking around in ski masks 

with bookbags, carrying loaded guns. The loss of life and property damage and the outright fear and terror 

for the innocent and the helpless of South Central. There has been a call to arms among these young 

terrorists and when I went to those that are officers, I don’t think you took it serious, I didn’t get a call 

back. I made sure there was a videotape given to you all, I made several calls, no response to me. Mr. 

Henke, you are right to ask for the investigation. 

 

 Ralph Spelbring, member of the public, stated last month it was announced that the toll to travel 

the length of the Indiana Toll Road would increase by almost $1.00. The toll now for car or pick up now 

$13.50, from the west point to Portage it is $3.50. I have prepared a resolution and Indiana should 

eliminate the high 7% state sales tax on motor fuels effective September 1st, 2020. This is quicker, simpler 

and fairer than issuing income tax refund checks. Currently, Indiana has the highest gasoline tax in the 

nation, when the 7% sales tax rate is added, it’s $0.33 per gallon. 

 

 Councilman Henke stated I received a text about parking over the weekend when it was busy and 

their car was towed and it’s a $600.00 fee. President Dawson stated I can tell you it was probably not 

towed by the City and I can talk to you afterwards about who towed it. 

 

 President Dawson stated I want to thank Kristi. I got several calls about how to get in and how to 

get out and Kristi and the Fire Department, everyone jumped right on it and took care of it. 



  DRAFT 

14 
 

Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 Councilman Henke stated the Ad-Hoc Committee, Kristen just gave me the information and she 

did a good job on tracking this because it was convoluted, and it was a lot of papers and were able to go 

through that. We had a new administration, a new planning director and it was a learning curve through 

all of this and it was good for all of us, quite honestly and we got through it. There were several not in 

compliance and to become compliant, they needed a week and we gave them a day. Part of it was the 

allottable time to get the project done, some were given 12 months to complete their project and I think 

some of us know with contractor delays and shipping and all of that, we gave them too narrow of a 

margin and it was just inexperience, that is all that was. We do need to extend for 11 companies to get 

information to Kristen, by 12 P.M. on Friday to rationalize their compliance and then I am hopeful we can 

have a special call on the 18th and have at least five members to make quorum, available for that night and 

it shouldn’t be very long. 

 

Acceptance of Communications 

 

Minutes of May 25, 2022 Board of Aviation Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes of May 24, 2022 Board of Public Safety Meeting 

 Minutes of May 24, 2022 Board of Public Safety Special Meeting  

Minutes of June 7, 2022  Board of Public Works Meeting 

Minutes of June 21, 2022 Board of Public Works Meeting 

Report of May 2022 Month End of Elkhart Communications Center 

 

 Councilman Curry, seconded by Councilman Mishler, moved to accept communications, which 

motion carried, by voice vote, and the communications were accepted. 

 

Adjournment 

 

 Councilman Hines, seconded by Councilman Fish moved to adjourn the meeting, which 

motion carried, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned.  

 

 

 

 

 

              

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk     Arvis Dawson 

        President of the Elkhart City Council 



                                                                                                           DRAFT 

   
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF MAY 1, 2023 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Kevin Bullard, Brent Curry, Brian Thomas, Aaron Mishler, 

LaTonya King, Megan Baughman, Dwight Fish, David Henke 

    

Absent:   

 

 

 This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx and live-

streamed on Facebook. All Council Members were present in Council Chambers.  

 

 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at 

City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.   

 

 Mr. Brown led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President Dawson asked for a 

moment of silent reflection. 

  

 The clerk called the roll.   

 

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE AGENDA 

 Councilman Mishler stated we have been presented with a couple of amendments for the 

agenda tonight.  It looks like 23-R-06 and 23-O-07.  He made a motion to substitute these in the 

entirety.  Second by Councilman Fish.  

 

 President Dawson asked if there was any council discussion.  Seeing none, he did a voice 

vote on the motion. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the motion passed.   

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Minutes of June 6, 2022 – City Council 

Minutes of April 17, 2023 – City Council 

 

President Dawson stated I need a motion for minutes of approval. Motion by Councilman 

Mishler, seconded by Councilman Fish.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the minutes were approved. 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

2 

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

 Mayor Roberson asked former Chief Kris Seymore to join him up front at the podium.  

He said that this was the day after his retirement but he asked him to come back because he 

wanted to acknowledge his service.  He wanted to put it into the record and acknowledge it in the 

appropriate manner.  He said Kris was hired in January of 1998 and had many positions.  The 

positions that were held and he was promoted out of were anti-crime unit, honor guard, juvenile 

crimes detective, arson investigator, homicide detective for 10 years, four of those as the 

lieutenant in charge of the unit, 7 years on SWAT, detective captain, assistant chief and chief.  In 

his tenure as chief, there have been some notable accomplishments and those should be read into 

the record as well.  He said he helped create the Elkhart County Homicide Unit in 2017, which 

has a 93% case clearance rate, was the American Legion Officer of the Year, in 2017 

implemented a civilian community liaison position, created a civilian media relations and public 

information position, downtown special officers for quality of life and partnerships with 

businesses.  Also created a mental health, social work program to provide mental health and 

social services to the public.  Began an update to the 20-year-old records management system, 

which should be completed this summer.  Dedicated parking lot spaces for safer online 

transactions.  Deployed Narcan to every officer, which has saved numerous lives.  Department 

complains and use of force went down as calls for service and arrests went up.  The mayor said 

when Kris came in we knew that we needed a change of culture in the police department and he 

provided the impetuous for that to happen.  This change of culture created a culture of 

accountability, governance and transparency that not just the administration was looking for but 

the community as a whole.  For that reason, for the last 2 ½ years, Kris has been very dutiful in 

ensuring that his officers reached a higher standard and that was so important to our city.  He 

said that he believes we have turned a corner and I should not call it his replacement as he has 

some big feet and Dan Milanese has little smaller feet, so I do not think that Dan can fill his 

shoes yet and I do not think that Dan wants too.  He said what is important is that we are moving 

in the right direction and now we have to continue.  With that said, he wanted to make sure that 

he honored Kris and his family tonight.  The City of Elkhart thanks you for your 25 years of 

service with the Elkhart Police Department from January 27, 1998 to April 28, 2023.  (He 

presents Kris with a key to the city)  The mayor said to Kris and his family, I appreciate your 

service was well Elizabeth because we are all in this together to a large degree and I see the kids 

back there as well.  Thank you 

 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

 

There were no reports of council committees 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

3 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-07-R 

 

CITY OF ELKHART ORDINANCE REGARDING UNIFORM REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CONSTRUCTION AND POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 

TO REPEAL AND REPLACE ORDINANCES 5034 AND 5158 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Motion to adopt 

on second reading by Councilman Mishler. Second by Councilman Bullard 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-07-R 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Joe Foy, Stormwater manager for 

the City of Elkhart stated the ordinance before you pertains to erosion control on construction 

sites and post construction requirements for these same sites. New state rules went into effect in 

2022, and these rules require us to update our existing ordinances to meet the revised 

requirements of the state's construction Stormwater general permit and the MS4 general permit.  

This ordinance will repeal our existing ordinance for construction side and add some necessary 

requirements for post construction.  Again, the changes that are included here are required by the 

new state general permits that went into effect in 2022 and need to be implemented by July of 

this year. He said I will go over some of the necessary changes included in the proposed 

ordinance and then answer any questions you might have.  He said to begin, the new ordinance 

will require existing natural vegetative buffers along waterways be protected for the first 50 feet 

during construction.  It defines when in active disturbed area must be temporarily stabilized.  

This is basically the same as the old rule with a new requirement to apply grass seed just a little 

bit sooner.  Rain event inspections are now any inspections 24 hours before the event, and those 

completed 24 hours after at a construction site during that construction process.  The ordinance 

identifies proposed uses that are more likely to have Stormwater pollutants and less potential 

Pretreatment options for those projects.  Post construction Stormwater operation and 

maintenance plans are now required by the new general permit for all new projects.  The 

ordinance provides guidelines for these plans, and also requires that the plans are recorded, so all 

subsequent owners know what those responsibilities are.  The city will collect the recording fees 

and insure the documents are recorded. Last, it identifies suggested guidelines for determining 

fines for construction sites that failed to comply with the erosion control rules as set by the state 

and defined in this ordinance. Those are the major updates that we are looking at for this 

ordinance.  

 Councilman Mishler asked will contractors be notified of the changes moving forward. I 

would hate to have someone who works with the city for quite some time and then suddenly not 

know about it and then get hit with this. Will there be notification sent out to contractors that 

work with the city. Joe Foy stated absolutely, we will be sending out notifications and we will be 

working with their partners at SWCD who help with the construction plan review process 

because they have an extensive database of all of the plan preparers who submit and we will 

utilize that to get the word out on the updates that will be coming.  Councilman Mishler stated 

okay and similar ordinances; I assume are probably happening in Nappanee, Goshen and other 

municipalities due to the rule change.  Joe Foy stated yes.   



   

 

4 

 

 Councilman Henke stated so let me make sure I understand this; was it HUD that 

actually put these changes in the place, and then we are adopting them now or are you adopting 

them as the city, whose mission is it to make these changes.  Joe Foy stated the state requires us 

to update our ordinances to include the new requirements, IDEM.  Councilman Henke stated so 

IDEM put the new, when did those come to the city.  When did IDEM give us that information 

that must be included?  Joe Foy stated the new general permits came out in 2022 actually the 

very end of 2021, but because of some snafu at the state, the start date did not start until July of 

2022 that started the clock as to when we needed to have everything updated.  Councilman 

Henke stated okay, because it sounded as though, even though this is above my head and all the 

stuff that you are doing with you know a very short time to get this approved and meet your July 

deadlines I was as interested in that.  He said other than that I have no other questions 

whatsoever you guys do a phenomenal job.    

 Councilman Bullard stated will this change in requirements increase workload for you 

guys at all.  Joe Foy stated the only increase in workload will be the recording of the documents 

with the county, so that they stay in perpetuity with that project. Councilman Bullard stated 

okay great.  

 Councilman Henke stated with that said the recording fees and any other fees associated 

with the new accommodations right, no matter I see a listing of non-profits in your document, 

but everyone is going to get the same charges they are not overlooked, they will be collected 

regardless of their status.  Joe Foy stated yes, the plan review fee is collected on all projects that 

there is not a status associated with that, like there is property taxes. Councilman Henke stated 

okay, thank you.  

 Councilman Thomas stated on existing development or site that changes its run off 

system by expansion or reconfiguration of their lot, would they be required then to apply for 

either a new permit or an amended permit. Joe Foy stated so the permits if it is a larger 

construction project over an acre in size, they have to the construction permit and then if it is an 

existing campus, we always have them update their existing plan.  A lot of the projects over the 

last year have had these plans; they just have not been recorded.  Now, we are going to go with 

that extra step because we want to ensure and the state is asking us to ensure that what is the 

mechanism all subsequent site owners are aware of their responsibilities that is how we are doing 

it through the recordings. So, in answer to that question if there is an existing plan on site, we 

will just have them update the plan as they typically have in the past, but then that entire plan 

will be recorded with the site. 

 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-07-R 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the 

public. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

5 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-07-R 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Seeing that there was no further 

discussion, he asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

Motion by Councilman Henke for third and final.  Second by Councilman Fish. 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a 

Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on final reading.    

 

 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

There are no ordinances or resolutions referred to committees 

 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

There are no tabled ordinances or resolution 

 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-08 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A MAJOR AMENDMENT TO THE “K-2, DETAILED 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT” BY ADDING “COMPONENT 

ASSEMBLY” AND “WAREHOUSING DISTRIBUTION” AS PERMITTED USES 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 

were no objections, he would move this on to second reading.    

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

6 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-09 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A MAJOR AMENDMENT TO THE “WINDSOR 

CROSSING PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT” (ELKHART CITY 

ORDINANCE NO. 3701 AND 5169) BY ADDING HOTEL AS PERMITTED USE 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 

were no objections, he would move this on to second reading.    

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-10 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION AND 

INSTALLATION OF CERTAIN ADDITIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS TO THE 

WATERWORKS OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THE ISSUANCE OF 

ADDITIONAL REVENUE BONDS TO FINANCE THE COST THEREOF, 

COLLECTION, SEGREGATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF THE REVENUES OF 

SUCH WATERWORKS, THE SAFEGUARDING OF THE INTEREST OF THE 

OWNERS OF SUCH REVENUE BONDS AND OTHER MATTERS CONNECTED 

THEREWITH, INCLUDING THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES IN ANTICIPATION OF 

SUCH BONDS, AND ALL MATTERS RELATED THERETO 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adopt this ordinance on all three (3) readings tonight.  

Motion by Councilman Curry, second by Councilman Fish.   

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to suspend the rules to allow us to pass this on all three (3) 

readings tonight.  Motion by Councilman Curry, second by Councilman Fish.   

 

Councilman Henke stated if you do not mind before we say we are suspending the rules, which 

takes 100%, we should at least know some of the discussion before we get into the final vote.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote.  Councilman Henke stated that he 

would not be a yes vote until he knows what we are changing, and then he would consider the 

yes vote for 100% passage.   

 

 

 

PRESENTATION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-10 

  Tory Irwin, Director of Public Works stated I apologize for having to bring this to 

you and ask for a suspension of the rules. If you will recall back in February of this year, the 

council passed a sewer works bond ordinance for our Oakland Phase A, long term control plan 

project. During this process to apply for the bond through the Indiana Finance Authorities State 

Revolving Fund loan program. We were told at the time that money within that bond could be 

used for the replacement of led water service lines, which is now required by the EPA’s 

proposed rule, and IDEM’s proposed rules.  They were going to take the money that we were 

going to use to replace those led service lines, do some fancy financing, and reduce our interest 

rate so that we would not incur the cost to replace those lines. He said since that time and at the 



   

 

7 

 

99 ½-yard line, the IFA’s lawyers decided that was not an acceptable route and that a separate 

waterworks bond would need to be issued for that portion of the project.  He said so they have 

taken $825,000 dollars out of the sewer bond and they are requesting that the council passed this 

water bond in order to fund the replacement of the led service lines.  The water bond is coming 

in the form of a forgivable loan, which means the utility rate payers of the City of Elkhart will 

not have to pay this money back. This money is coming through grant money from the feds 

through the IFA to the City of Elkhart.  The reason we are requesting the waiving and the 

suspension of the rules is we opened bids in February with the plan that all of these bonds would 

be in place so that we could proceed with the project.  We had the contractor during the bid lock 

in the prices for 90 days, which is above and beyond what the State of Indiana law requires.  

That 90 days is up.  We have been told by our finance group that we can get a bond as soon as 

tomorrow should the council pass this tonight. President Dawson stated I appreciate that email 

you sent all of us this weekend to outline. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-10 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion after the presentation.  Councilman 

Fish stated I want to thank you for taking the time to explain this, because I have always been 

frustrated by suspension of the rules, but I understand and I accept the explanation.  He asked if 

anything had changed since their conversation last week.  Tory Irwin replied no, nothing has 

changed.   

 Councilman Henke stated so with that said, there is a change of $818,915 dollars and I 

just wanted to go back over, because I had notes in regards to taking it from here and crediting 

knowing then that this is a forgivable, so how do we make this work now at both ends.  We are 

adding $818,915 and a forgivable bond issuance, forgivable loan as it were and it should come 

off the other side that was already passed.  Tory Irwin stated it did come off the other side, the 

bond for that closed Friday. Councilman Henke asked how he can see the paperwork of that 

reduction from the other side.  Tory Irwin stated we can provide that to you.  He said the good 

news is that the bids came back much less than the council had authorized. He said so our bond 

for the sewer works project is less than what the maximum that the council authorized.  

Councilman Henke stated and then the bond is yet to bid.  He said so this is forgivable, is it still 

going to be sold like a bond.  Tory Irwin stated that Jim McGoff from the Indiana Finance 

Authority is online and that he is not sure of all of the details.  He said I do engineering not 

financing.   Councilman Henke stated it is just a matter of questions of the cost of that bond 

issuance.  President Dawson asked David did you want Jim to answer your question. Jim 

McGoff, Director of Environmental Programs from Indiana Finance Authority stated Mr. 

Irwin is correct in his explanation of what brings us here tonight. It was somewhat of a unique 

financing that we put together for your city, and that we were doing both a wastewater project, a 

drinking water project and a led service line replacement project. He said staff on our end did 

clearly as the process move forward.  The anticipation was that it was going to be one issue 

through your wastewater utility and when we got close to closing and that issue was raised, we 

did determine that we needed to close a separate issue with your drinking water utility to take 

care of the led service line portion of this.  In an agreement with Mr. Irwin, the bonds are not 

being publicly sold; they are being privately placed with the Indiana Finance Authority.  Mr. 

Irwin was correct the first issue with the waste water utility has closed for the least amount upon 

approval by the council we will close the second issue with the drinking water utility for this 



   

 

8 

 

forgivable loan of 818,915.  He said to directly answer your question, it is a private placement, 

and not a public sale and that will take place as soon as the council approves it.   

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote on whether we should suspend 

the rules and pass this on all three (3) readings tonight. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the suspension of council rules for this proposed ordinance passed. 

 

 President Dawson stated that this passed and he will move this on to the second reading.  

Motion to adopt Councilman Henke, second by Councilman Fish.   

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-10 

 President Dawson asked if there was any further discussion from the council.  There was 

no further discussion. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED ORDINANCE 23-O-10 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the 

public. 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on second reading. 

 

Motion for third and final, Councilman Thomas, second by Councilman Henke.  President 

Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only and do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed ordinance passed on third and final reading.   

 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-11 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING EIGHT HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($800,000.00) FOR LAND ACQUISITION, AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR THE 

NEW PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  He stated if there 

were no objections, he would move this into the Public Health and Safety Committee.    



   

 

9 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

Proposed Resolution 23-R-06-R 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, TO RECOGNIZE PAUL D. THOMAS, JR. FOR HIS ACHIEVEMENTS AND 

HIS CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE ELKHART COMMUNITY 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution in its entirety.  

 

WHEREAS, Paul D. Thomas, Jr., a longtime resident of the City of Elkhart, has been an active 

member of the Elkhart Community for a number of years; and  

 

WHEREAS, Paul graduated from Elkhart High School in 1941 and went on to study at Indiana 

University; and 

 

WHEREAS, in 1946 Paul began his retail career in Florida before returning to work in Elkhart 

in 1948 as the manager of Drakes Department Store until he opened his own business, Paul 

Thomas Shoes, in Downtown Elkhart in 1955; and 

 

WHEREAS, the contributions of Paul to his community are numerous; he was a lifelong 

champion for Elkhart and following his retirement from Paul Thomas Shoes in 1988, he founded 

the Time Was Museum which gave him the opportunity to share the history of Elkhart, often 

giving programs to service clubs, libraries, etc., and he shared the stories of this city with 

everyone he talked with for the remainder of his life; and  

 

WHEREAS, Paul as a passionate supporter of Downtown Elkhart and was one of the founders of 

the Elkhart Jazz Festival; and 

 

WHEREAS, Paul was affectionately called the “Mayor of Main Street”; served two terms as a 

City Councilor; was a president and Citizen of the Year of the Elkhart Lions Club; and was 

awarded the Sagamore of the Wabash, the most prestigious award in the State of Indiana by 

Governor O’Bannon in 1996; and 

 

WHEREAS, Paul D. Thomas, Jr. passed away on April 15, 2023, leaving behind a legacy of 

public service and commitment to the Elkhart Community; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart desires to recognize Paul D. Thomas, Jr. 

for his many contributions to the City of Elkhart and to thank him for his service to Elkhart.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ELKHART, INDIANA, that the members of the Common Council wish to recognize and show 

gratitude for the contributions of Paul D. Thomas, Jr. to the Elkhart community and express 

their sincerest condolences to his family.   

 

The foregoing is passed and adopted by the Common Council this 1st day of May 2023. 

 



   

 

10 

 

 Motion to adopt by Councilman Thomas, seconded by Councilman Curry.   
 
 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-06-R 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  Bruce Thomas who is Brian’s brother, 

stated mayor, council, I appreciate the resolution and all the condolences and well wishes.  He 

said he was another great man and he will be missed.  Thank you!   

 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-06-R 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council. Councilman Thomas stated 

very simply all those of who knew him if he could be here, he would say this is only what he 

deserved.  Councilman Henke stated I did not know him as those of you who were before us, 

but you heard the stories not only from the shoe store, but also realistically from the interaction 

with then Mayor Kesim.  The rolling of the chair down the ramp, and some of the laughter he 

would bring to a lot of rooms and the jokes, most of the acceptable, but what an energized person 

and every day down at the jazz fest, he was the brightest person down there.  So, thank you 

family for sharing him with the City of Elkhart.  Councilman Curry stated I would like to thank 

the family for sharing Paul with us. He said I knew Paul very well and we always talk politics, 

we talk about Elkhart and of course we talked Elkhart history because I found a picture one time 

in a wall of an old house, and I did not know anything about this picture that is when we used to 

have the fish fries downtown, I said Paul will be at the fish fry and I will take this picture and 

Paul knew exactly who that picture was.  He said that is the football team from many years ago 

and they won everything and I had no idea who and Paul said, I will put it in the museum, you 

know, he was a great guy.  You could see him serve Elkhart, even at the jazz festival. 

In his later years, he was still taking people where they need to go in golf carts. He said I got to 

go out with him and Brian of what about a year or 2 ago, we all went out to eat and that was a 

great experience for me because he always told me how great councilman when I was.  

Councilman Bullard stated for people that may not know Paul is 99 years old.  Councilman 

Thomas stated and a half.  Councilman Bullard said I bet we all wish we could be that healthy 

and that old.  Councilwoman Baughman stated I just would like to add that typically people 

leave a legacy the longer they live, but I had the privilege of going to the store with the little 

door, and as a young child that had left such a profound impact and shared it with our kids and 

now we long to have a place like that to take them.  Kind of joke that when you would go into 

the store, you would walk through the inventory, I mean, that was the back the backroom, which 

obviously is not the way things are set up today, but I am 1 of 5 and so when we show up there, 

he had the rocking chair that you got to play on. Then when it was your turn to go up and walk 

up the steps, he actually stood there, measured your foot, and made sure you got the right size.  

He was amazing.  She said I will share a personal story with 5 kids, taking them to the shoe store 

or anything can be rather expensive and those of you who know my parents or know my dad, he 

is pretty frugal and sends my mom to Paul Thomas to get 5 kids in 6 years shoes, and she comes 

home and he is like, oh, my gosh, you know how much did you spend? And she is like, hey, I 

mean, it is Paul Thomas he has great shoes and the kids only get one pair of shoes.  She is like 

you know if you are not happy, you do it.  So, six (6) months later my dad marches us down 

there to see Paul to get shows and needless to say he spent more than she did.  She said one more 



   

 

11 

 

thing, my son who is graduating from college had the privilege of interviewing him a couple of 

years ago and he was an intern through Infocus and through his work with Jack Smith and 

cataloging all of his Time Was Museum information and stuff.  He got to sit down with them and 

what a treat that was to hear stories about his great grandmother and the time in Elkhart. So 

thank you for sharing your dad with us, and the many memories he has given to a generation of 

people, many generations.  President Dawson stated well, I actually had the privilege of talking 

to Paul that Saturday. We were planning a 100th celebration.  Brian and I had talked that his 

birthday is in October so let us just do it in this 100th year.  Brian had said to me now if I suggest 

it he is not going to do it, he said he is not going to want to do it if I suggest it.  He said you have 

to come over and you have got to tell him what he is doing.  He said I went over on Saturday 

with my city council badge on and had my card in my hand; I was official from the City of 

Elkhart.  I sat down with him and I told him that city council was requesting your presence at a 

program on May the 7th and you need to be there. He stated you know, he was so vibrant at the 

time.  He asked about my kids he knew what was going on.  So for Brian to call Monday or 

Tuesday and say, hey, we are not doing it was somewhat of a shock, but I want the council to 

know that this summer during jazz festival, we are going to do something, and so I want the 

family know that Paul will be well remembered in our community, like everyone said, he was the 

mayor of Main Street, you know, and if he would summon you him and his old guys down to the 

Old Style Deli, he would summon you, you got a summons. It is like, you know, the king has 

called you and you need to come down and answer these questions.  His experience and his time 

in the City of Elkhart has made us a more vibrant place we are truly love him and thank you for 

sharing him with us.   
 

 President Dawson asked if there was any further discussion.  Seeing none, he asked the 

clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed resolution passed. 

 

 

 

Proposed Resolution 23-R-07 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, APPROVING THE APPLICATION FOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

BLOCK GRANT FUNDS AND RECOMMENDING SUBMISSION OF THE 

APPLICATION BY THE MAYOR FOR APPROVAL 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  Motion to 

adopt Councilman Fish, second Councilman Mishler. 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

12 

 

PRESENTATION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-07 

 Mike Huber, Director of Development Services for the City of Elkhart, he said Paul 

Thomas was one of the first people I met when I started with the City of Elkhart 30 years ago 

with the planning department.  I will never forget the first time he came in the office when I was 

in everything about him he was in the office all the time basically telling all of us planners, why 

we were not very good at our job and how he could do our job better. I feel so blessed and 

honored to have gotten to know Paul over the 30 years and my kids tell stories about the classes 

is what they went through the museum and to have somebody who cares that much about our 

community, we are all really, really lucky. I appreciate the opportunity to just spend a little bit of 

time.  You should have all gotten the actual action plan in the packet.  I just want to provide a 

little bit of context for the plan this evening briefly along with Mary Kaczka who will be up in a 

few minutes, who is our Assistant Director of Community Development.  The City of Elkhart is 

an entitlement community for the CDBG funds from HUD that basically means we do not have 

to submit competitively for those. We get an annual allocation every year. We do have 

restrictions on how we can use those funds.  There are three (3) national federal objectives that 

we have to meet when we spend the dollars from the CDBG program.  The first one being 

benefiting low and modern income residents of the community.  We are required to spend a 

minimum of 70% of those resources on meeting that objective. We are also allowed to those on 

preventing or eliminating slum and blithe in our community, or for meeting urgent needs, those 

are things typically that happen after a natural disaster; those are eligible uses for those funds. 

As part of the process we are required to complete a five (5) year consolidate plan and through 

that consolidated planning process, we have to engage the community, define the needs and 

developed strategies related to improving housing, improving neighborhoods and improving 

employment conditions within the city.  More specifics we use those funds and have to outline in 

that five (5) year strategy, how we are going to improve the lives of Elkhart’s low and moderate-

income residents. Program year 2023, you have the action plan in your packet represents year 

four (4) of the five (5) year plan.  We will be starting the development of a new five (5) year 

action plan next year.  However, the activities in this year's plan are still kind of falling under the 

guidelines of the five (5) year plan that preceded both Mary and I, at the city. We are trying to do 

our best making adjustments within the framework we can; that was what we inherited.  In the 

development of the five (5) year plan, there was a fairly robust and extensive public engagement 

process that was used in order to not just determine but also prioritize the housing and 

community development needs and strategies and actions that are included in the five (5) year 

plan.  Those are focused around housing needs homeless, non-homeless, special needs actions, 

economic development needs and neighborhood development needs.  Within housing 

specifically, we are looking at ways that we can increase the capacity of our neighborhood not 

for profit partners in expanding opportunities for home ownership and rental housing 

opportunities for low-income residents.  That can be through us acquiring vacant lots that can be 

used for infill development for new construction, how we can help facilitate the development of 

new rental units, how we can help low and moderate income residents achieve home ownership 

through purchasing home.  How we can help homeowners that are low and moderate-income 

stay in their homes, as they need needed repairs structurally, or mechanically with the property 

and maintain that through our homeowner rehabilitation program. As well as demolishing blithed 

residential structures, that are negatively impacting the property values in our neighborhoods.  In 

terms of our homeless and our non-homeless special needs goals, we work primarily in those 

areas through our partners, mostly in the homeless coalition providing them resources to leverage 

the resources that they get from other places to provide the needed services to help residents in 



   

 

13 

 

that area. Those are specifically addressed through a grant program that are part of the public 

service activities you saw noted in your plans. From an economic development standpoint, we 

are looking at ways to continue to provide job training to low and moderate income residents and 

also find ways through our economic development efforts to create new jobs and new living 

wages within our neighborhood revitalization strategy areas.  Finally, within our neighborhood 

development, we are looking at ways we can improve parks, we need to make sure the 

infrastructure is up to date and strong in our neighborhoods, and try to find ways to improve 

commercial facades and the appearance of the business districts within the NSRA.  That includes 

the downtown and some of the kind of neighborhood commercial areas we see in areas on the 

South Side of town, and in in the West Side of town as well.  Every year as part of us 

determining our housing program needs, we are required to prepare and develop an annual 

analysis of impediments to affordable housing. For this year as we were looking at that, the 

primary significant barrier to affordable housing in Elkhart right now is the funding gap that is 

necessary to cover the high cost of housing construction and or high housing renovation versus 

what is affordable for folks who earn low and moderate income.  When we define low and 

moderate income, we are talking about folks who earn 80% or less of the area median income.  

More specifically, we think the biggest challenge is finding opportunities for folks who earn 

below 60% of the area median income and getting them into affordable housing options.  To 

quantify what that looks like, if you are a family of 3 or 4 then you will earn somewhere between 

40 to 45,000 dollars a year to qualify as under 60% of the area median income, that is $21.50 an 

hour.  If you have a family of three (3) or four (4) you are 60% AMI and we know that is a 

significant gap for housing in our community right now.  He said he is going to let Mary come 

up and talk about specifically how much of a gap that is in our community as well as give an 

overview of some of the strategies that are included in this year’s plan.   

  Mary Kaczka, Assistant Director of Community Development said there has recently 

been completed a study by Zimmerman/Volk Associates of the Elkhart housing market and what 

this study is telling us, and this is kind of piggy backing on what Mike was talking about, the 

affordable housing gap. What we know about the gap is that of rental units at the $1,250 dollars a 

month rate of rent, there is a need for over the next five (5) years, anywhere between 765 to 

1,045 units, just within that AMI affordable rental range.  For the for sale market, what we look 

at affordable is homes that are $250,000 dollars or less and in today’s construction that is about 

what it cost to build an average home.  So, in that price range, as far as being affordable there is a 

potential for anywhere from 330 to 500 units that could be absorbed over five (5) years. If you 

do the math and just spread that out annually, there could be about 200 affordable rental units 

that could be absorbed in this market or 100 for sale units in this market.  Those figures are about 

half of the overall potential of all of the market here at all price ranges and income levels to give 

you an idea of what the real needs is here in the Elkhart market.  She stated moving on to the 

annual action plan for this 4th year that we are going into starting July 1, there are about five (5) 

or six (6) areas that Mike touched on, that the funds would be allocated towards.  The most 

significant area will be housing and that amount about $403,000 dollars of the total allocation 

would be earmarked for housing, whether it would be owner occupied rehab or working with 

partners, not for profit development partners to assist them with providing some block grant 

money to leverage other funds like other HUD funds, home funds or shop funds to build new 

affordable housing. Another $30,000 dollars would be allocated for homebuyer assistance.  We 

would like to be able to offer some support for homebuyers who are income qualified to 

purchase affordable housing, so, we have some funds allocated for that. Another area is fair 

housing, education and outreach, which is very important to educate people, tenants, landlords, 



   

 

14 

 

lenders and realtors about fair housing so we have allocated $22,490 dollars for that.  The last 

area in housing needs would be blithe and disaster remediation and prevention.  Again, some of 

these funds could be used for demolition or to address some type of environmental remediation 

issue that might come up in a project.  The second category in this area is homeless needs. In this 

area and most of the rest of the allocation of the funds as Mike mentioned we really work with 

not for profit sub-recipients who really carry out the activities that we have a need to do that we 

cannot do ourselves. So, in the homeless needs area, we will be working with the YWCA and the 

safe haven program and they provide services for people who are suffering from domestic abuse 

that is affecting their housing.  The next category of non-homeless special needs is the AIDS 

ministry, and they work with people who are dealing with AIDS and helping them find 

permanent housing, so they will be the recipient of some funds.  The Council on Aging has been 

doing an excellent job in providing transportation and again, these are for income-qualified 

individuals. The Boys and Girls Club Kids Care program. Some of these funds will be given to 

income-qualified youth for scholarships to be able to participate and to take advantage of the 

Boys & Girls Clubs programs.  St. James AME Church will be using some funds to expand their 

food pantry activity; the Lords Cupboard Food Pantry and minority Health coalition will be 

receiving some funds to provide programming for chronic disease self-management program. In 

the economic development category, we will be working with Goodwill Industries in their 

beating the odds to self-sufficiency, which is an acronym for Boss. They provide soft and hard 

skill training to people to help them become employed.  The soft skills and the training and the 

certification skills to gain employment and they are focusing the training in CNA training and 

welding training.  The rest of the funds, there is an earmark for neighborhood facility 

improvement, which is really part a neighborhood development needs.  Again, these funds could 

be used from anywhere from sidewalks to broadband Internet and water and sewer in the public.  

Lastly, the way that we administer this program in the Community Development Department, we 

have two (2) full time people and so we have funds allocated for administrative and planning 

activities.   Mike Huber stated as a city department, we do not building housing, we do not do 

that.  We rely on our partnerships with our partners to do these things. When we are talking 

about the gaps that we have between what it costs and what folks can afford, we would love to 

partner with a whole variety from not for profits or private sector, but we do not see private for 

profit operating in our space. Our primary partners are LaCasa and Habitat for Humanity and not 

for profits like that who can help us.  One of the successes we like to really strive for, as an 

outcome with our program is, how well we can use our funds as a portion of a leveraged 

program.  Our partners are very successful in bringing in; as Mary mentioned other funds like 

hone funds and others to kind of help cover that gap. With that, hopefully that is a little bit of 

context for what we are trying to do.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

15 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-07 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  Councilman Bullard stated on your 

plan priorities as they are listed here on our paper, you are going to start out probably highest 

priority is going to be the housing needs. The second thing would be the homeless needs and 

then non-homeless sort of kind of in order here as Mary described.  Mike Huber stated actually, 

that is just how they are organized.  I mean, we have they are all priorities and we are addressing 

all of those priorities, but that is how we are allocating the resources.  Councilman Bullard 

stated then these funds then are controlled and distributed by redevelopment?  Mike Huber 

stated they do go through the redevelopment commission.  That is correct.  Councilman Bullard 

stated and then one last thing, Mary talked about the housing study for the market in Elkhart, 

would it be possible to get a copy of that study? Mike Huber stated Mary has done an excellent 

job recently of digesting the studies as they are really long and has a lot of stuff to it. Mary has 

done an excellent job of digesting that and breaking it out by some of the categories.  We will get 

you a copy of that.    

 Councilman Henke stated just on a couple of because these are tax dollars collected, so 

we are still responsible for it that is why it is in front of us.  He said I am just looking just for a 

couple of explanations, does not have to be elaborate or deep. For example, Council on Aging 

transportation program, so we as the city taxpayers give $20,000, how do we know that it is 

actually for transportation use? Is it just applied to their budget and we just assume that they are 

going to have more available transportation. Some of it is going to be paid for, where otherwise 

they would not have taken the person. Mike Huber stated so Mary can talk a little bit more 

about the specific reporting, but HUD requires us to go through an extensive monitoring and sub-

recipient reporting program.  Councilman Henke stated so that is the example because they use 

Medicare, Medicaid, private insurance, private pay and other.  I just want to know for $20,000 

dollars, how do we monitor the effectiveness of that expenditure?  Mary Kaczka as Mike said, 

the sub recipients must comply with reporting requirements and so as they request again these 

are all reimbursable grants so as all of these entities are putting the cash out and then being 

reimbursed.  They have to have the capacity to be able to fund that upfront so they do request 

drawdowns against the grant.  To do that, they have to provide and this is what is put into the 

grant agreement, and what they give us in that particular case is actually a list identifying each 

individual anonymously by several criteria, including the income levels, age and so forth, and the 

type of transportation that they provided. So every time they are asking us for a draw, we have an 

itemized list of every individual that received the benefit to ensure that they were income 

qualified as beneficiaries. Councilman Henke stated so to follow up, how do you then qualify 

that they had no other capability of pay.  So for example, if they are a Medicaid recipient, 

Medicaid should be the payer source.  If they put that person, up there and take cash, which is a 

higher rate. How do we validate.  Mike Huber stated I would say at this point, we would rely on  

Council on Aging to provide information that matches the reporting requirements that we are 

given by HUD.  Councilman Henke stated and I appreciate that, because I did not know the 

answer either. They would have to be in your books and you would have to be in their books, but 

I just want the accountability factor to be upfront.  Mike Huber stated and then we look at it, as 

a way to expand those needed services for seniors throughout the city; understanding and 

recognizing that we have to serve the population that is income qualified or eligible based under 

our grant. Councilman Henke stated and I would just like to add a caveat if you do not mind 

with a little bit of latitude from the president.  He said I know that there are services taxpayers 

are actually not charging for rent and utilities and things of that nature, so my question is for the 

space they use, if there are those services, the law requires at the state level for every service 



   

 

16 

 

there will be a fee.  Would we be better off giving them $40,000 and taking $20,000 towards rent 

and utility to make it more palatable? Is there something we can do in that way so it does come 

from CDBG money and not just a forgivable…?  Mike Huber stated so I am not sure I 100% 

understand your question. If what you are asking is, could we give them a straight grant to cover 

administrative costs as opposed to applying it towards the actual provision of service?  President 

Dawson stated I think what he is saying is they rent from us. Councilman Henke stated there is 

a low fee, I think it used to be a dollar and from a tax perspective we pay the utility so there is a 

lot more money being sent that direction than what is on our books, and to me, I do not find that 

acceptable so, my question is not to short change them, but to say, could we have increased their 

fee, is CDBG capable of doubling that fee and then let them pay correct rent and utility back to 

the city. Mike Huber stated we have a cap on our administrative costs and because that does not 

count for direct service provision to low and moderate income residents, which we are required 

to spend 70% of our funds on.  He said we would be over our administrative cap and we would 

not be an allowable expense under the HUD provision.  Councilman Henke stated I just want to 

do this for myself, as this has been a thorn in my side for a long time. If we gave them $40,000 

towards transportation in their budget, it frees up $20,000 that they were not going to get anyhow 

that they can actually then pay the city rent out of another bucket in their budget.  I just want to 

throw that in your ear.  That is fair and finally any cost, I know housing is an issue in Elkhart, 

you well established that the numbers are what they are.  So, it tells me though that anything that 

ups the price supply and demand is one of those things that is hard to help, the greater the supply 

the less the real cost going in, but on the other hand things that we do also impact ability to have 

an achievable mortgage be able to afford housing and this year we are looking at significant $200 

Million dollar bond of municipal buildings. Do we have a projection of what impact that will 

have on top of property taxes, and then we are trying to help out people in their housing we when 

are actually adding a pretty substantial burden on top of their regular payments, have we thought 

that through.  Councilman Mishler called for a point of order stating I am not entirely sure how 

germane that is to this discussion.  Councilman Henke stated we are talking about homelessness 

and we are talking about workforce housing and affordable rent.  If the city adds $200 Million 

dollars of bonds.  President Dawson stated we are not talking about the bonds right now.  We 

are just talking about CDBG. Councilman Henke stated on our agenda is the first land 

acquisition for the first rebuild a fire station if there is three (3) that is $50 million.  Just put that 

on the record.  

 Councilman Mishler stated to be clear for folks in the audience and folks watching 

online, who might not be familiar with CDBG funds, do those come from the municipal 

government? Do they come from the state? Do they come from the federal government?  Where 

does that money come from?  Mike Huber stated those are federal resources we receive as an 

entitlement community directly from the federal government.  Councilman Mishler stated okay, 

so these are federal funds. These are just as much our taxpayer dollars as Dunkirk, Indiana or 

Greenbow, Alabama.  Mike Huber stated or Mishawaka, South Bend or any other entitlement 

community.   Councilman Mishler stated okay, just a couple of things that I want to highlight 

on this if that is okay, since most people have not seen this packet,  I assume, is what some of the 

money is going towards in 2023. Some of the goals is to provide financial assistance for five (5) 

low to moderate income households purchase a home, renovate 10 to 15 housing units, provide 

fair housing education outreach to 300 people, remove up to five (5) blithed structures. I know 

that Councilman Henke and myself have both been concerned about the amount of blithed 

structures in our community, so looking forward to seeing those funds put to good use.  Public 

facilities improvements up to 100 households will benefit through public infrastructure 



   

 

17 

 

improvements assist 750 individuals through emergency shelter services, street outreach 

counseling and other public service.  Assist up to 850 individuals through counseling and 

outreach activities, provide job training and soft skill development counseling for up to five (5) 

individuals. On a more direct measure, this can also be put towards replacing or modernizing 

elevators at Rosedale high-rise, replace playground equipment at a Bannerker Heights, upgrade 

parking lots at Rosedale and Riverside high-rise and replace exterior doors and boilers at 

Waterfall high-rise. These are all good things. These are all good things for Elkhart and good 

things for our community. It is helping with housing, with mental health and it is helping our 

city. 

 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-07 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no discussion from the 

public.   

 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-07 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Councilman Henke stated I 

appreciate that because there are a bunch of good things, but at the end of the day, it impacts 

every taxpayer out there. These are good and equitable things, they are federal tax dollars that 

derived in part from Elkhart, Indiana and they have a history of expenditures.  Elkhart is looking 

at a pretty large expenditure and we just need to pull it all together to make sure that housing is 

not pushed out to reach even further by our future spending.  

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call Vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed resolution passed.   

 

 

Proposed Resolution 23-R-08 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA ACKNOWLEDGING PEACE OFFICER MEMORIAL DAY – MAY 15, 2023 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  Motion to 

adopt by Councilman Henke, second by Councilman Fish. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-08 

 President Dawson opened the council discussion.  There was no council discussion. 

 

 

 



   

 

18 

 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-08 

 President Dawson opened the public discussion.  There was no public discussion. 

 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 23-R-08 

 President Dawson returned the discussion to the council.  Councilman Mishler stated 

just noting the piece officers, memorial service as each May we honor all of our police officers 

who have died in the line of duty.  This year it will be on Wednesday May 17th at 11:00am at 

Kardzhali Park, NIBCO Parkway adjacent to the river walk at the police fire memorial. 

Inclement weather location is the parking garage behind the police station. I encourage everyone 

to attend. 

 

 President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Thomas, Mishler, King, Baughman, Fish, Henke, Dawson 

NAYS: 

 

By a unanimous vote, the proposed resolution passed.   

 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

 

There were no vacation hearings 

 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

 Councilman Thomas stated the other night ran into some residents of the 

Beardsley/Cassopolis Neighborhood where we have our infamous little traffic jog, and 

somebody ran over that again. Luckily, there was nobody standing or walking this time, but it 

caused quite a bit of property damage.  They are very frustrated, I know people that have looked 

at the situation and it is a very difficult situation with the utility poles and the sidewalk and the 

electrical box that is there.  They are very frustrated that people come, look, and then disappear 

and nothing gets done. I am looking for action and promised them that I would bring it up and 

get it in our record and put it back in people’s minds.  It is just a strange corner. 

 Councilman Henke stated okay, let me get through this list quickly.  He said he did call 

in nine (9) houses on Neff Street, it is not that long, but there were nine (9) houses with vehicles 

in the yards, one had six.  The question I would have is, you know it feels is why am I, the one 

having to drive by and call them all in? There were 10 plus last week as well.  I am just not sure 

in our all of our public vehicles, which is quite a number, why these things are not being 

managed on a better communication system. I think the public has said, I think this was on 

Pinewood School night they turned in a couple of these.  And Neff Street, I got to tell you, I was 

shocked to see what that has become.  There was a couple of other things; I did talk to Michelle 

at the Lerner and she confirmed that the city paid for food but we do not pay rent of space when 

we use it, so I wanted to make sure that is on record. We should do them justice and get the full 

charge like everybody else; it is the public’s house not ours.  Then there was the issue regarding 

signage, so I went after Mr. Mishler, which was not Mr. Mishler so, my apology to that.  But 

obviously there was a complaint called in to the mayor's office; the mayor's office called Mike 



   

 

19 

 

Szucs; Mike Szucs picked up my signs and my signs only. I had someone from the mayor's 

office say, well; Rod’s signs were picked up too. Well, there were no Rod signs out there. And 

Mike said the only signs we were told to pick up was yours.  So, I want to announce the winners 

of the signs in right of way happened to be Airshow and Alex, and I do not mind at all.  We are 

trying to get people out to vote and I am not going to complain.  If you are going to put signs 

bless your heart, you are trying to get public engaged, but I think having the street department go 

after signs, they have bigger things to do and they are expensive people to send after signs.  So, 

thank you for that wanted to set the record straight.  I will leave the rest go. But I did have after 

Pinewood, I did have a good and comfortable conversation with the new chief of police so, thank 

you for that and I look forward to working with you and supporting you. 

 Councilman Fish stated I am going to address this to you Mr. President.  The 

memorandum that everyone should have gotten regarding the residency requirements.  I am 

going to say out loud that we have got a lot of violations of state law and perhaps federal law 

stemming from Kevin Bullard who is still sitting on a council seat here who, who should 

probably resign at this point based on state law that has been documented by myself and 

references from this memorandum.  I will be challenging his vote in the upcoming election 

tomorrow because of his residency requirements. The intent has always been in the law that is all 

the law says the intention of someone shows his movement toward either resolve and what I am 

trying to get people to understand is that we as a council are fundamentally not following the 

rules and we need to ask for Kevin Bullard’s immediate resignation from the council based on 

state and federal law.  He said I will be glad to talk to anybody in particular about this but I hope 

that you will consider doing that immediately to make sure that you show respect and lack of 

contempt for this council and the taxpayers of Elkhart.   

 President Dawson stated I would like to thank the mayor for your prompt response from 

the administration after the Pinewood meeting.  The recap that was done, the issues that were 

addressed I drove around after I sent an email and you responded back on them, so I appreciate 

all the departments that responded back and hopefully we can continue as we have these Let’s 

Talk Tuesday’s to make sure that we are engaged with our community.    

 Councilman Bullard stated I was not really going to say too much but since I was 

targeted out, I think I will.  Councilman Henke, Megan and me, we have been criticize quite 

often by asking questions up here at the council and by asking the mayor to do stuff and we have 

been criticized for not making the call. He said Arvis you said we could solve some of these 

problems by making a call to whichever department came up in our ordinance or whatever. Even 

Councilman Fish has said, you know, some of the time at city council could be eliminated if we 

just made the call.  So, talking about my residency no one up here has made a call to me to talk 

about this residency.  President Dawson stated did I not make a call to you.  Councilman 

Bullard stated we talked about the residency and the requirements.  President Dawson stated so 

I did make a call to you right?  Councilman Bullard stated you informed me that it was going to 

be brought up tonight.  He said as council rules it is my obligation and privilege to ask for 

document and the documentation of state and federal laws.  From what I have read with this 

memorandum, issued by John Espar city legal there is no law mentioned.  There is nothing in 

there so I guess I would like to see the documentation that you might have Dwight and have a 

conversation, because we are talking about intent and part of the intent is the conduct taken to 

implement the intent.  So, you know, I have got documents saying that, you know, I got a place 

in Florida and I intend to move in there some day. I just do not know when. I got my own 

documentation, I have done my own research and I have stated that I think I have a legal right to 

stick around until December, and, as I said in the previous meeting, my intent is to resign in 



   

 

20 

 

June. So, if anything changes I will let you know. If you have got documentation of the state and 

federal law, I would love to have a conversation with you Dwight.  President Dawson stated I 

think what the recommendation from legal was is that we send it to the attorney general.  So, 

John, I would ask that you do that on behalf of the council so we can move forward with the 

situation.  Councilman Bullard stated if I could add to that, it is probably going to take over 30 

days to get an answer from the attorney general and I will be gone. 

 Councilman Henke stated so, I appreciate the letter. I wished it was a little bit more 

concrete and forthcoming.  Intent is a tough word because if I look at the three establishments 

and I am not a lawyer, I think John Espar would be the guy, if it says all three of these; if you 

abandon your residence, and I think that has consequence as well. This is something I think that 

is important but the word in intent is not the word we can use it needs to be very decisive line in 

the sand, it needs to say all these things this time, by this measure, I would hope that we could 

get to something of that nature, because I intend in 5 years to live in Portugal, but I am not 

resigning today.  So intent is not the correct word that we need to use.  We need to find out what 

the intent of the word intent was in the usage so we would actually know these things.  He said I 

read through this and quite honestly came away more confused than benefited.  I wish the state 

had a more clear definition going on.  President Dawson stated what I am hearing in a 

community, is that Tonda Hines knew her intent, she moved from her resident to another place 

and what differentiates the two.  That is what we are trying to clear up.  He said I think it is 

unfair that Councilwoman Hines left and Kevin has not left because there needs to be not so 

much ambiguity, but a more concrete ruling on what the situation is.  Council rules say once you 

move out of your district, you immediately evacuated the seat.  The election board agrees with 

that but there is no provision to remove the council person.  So, to your point, there is a lot of 

ambiguity but what I am hearing is what is good for the goose is good for the gander.  

Councilman Bullard stated if I could clarify, I am still in the process of moving.  President 

Dawson stated that is fine as we said before you need to sign an affidavit saying that is true.  

That is what I was told by Chris Anderson, the Clerk of Elkhart County. Councilman Bullard 

stated who has no authority.  President Dawson stated no, he is just the chairman of the election 

board.    
 

 

REPORTS OF THE MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENT HEADS 

  Corinne Straight, Director of Communications stated that our 311 department led by 

LaShawn Brooks with Patti Gorostieta-Moreno had a very busy start to 2023.  We have done 

seven (7) community clean up so far this year, we have 12 active neighborhood associations, and 

through conversation and engagement we are really listening to what neighbors want in their 

association and how the city can support them.  We are not really driving the ship there; we are 

letting the residents tell us what they need. Walk arounds began last month, they began in April. 

The goal is to knock on 500 between April and September.  They did 75 homes last week at the 

end of April in district 3.  They handout educational materials, ordinance information, they 

answer questions, they pass out information on fair housing, 311, leaf pickup schedule that sort 

of thing.  We also have done a lot of community outreach, so far this year we participated in 

seven (7) pop ups and what the pop ups are is that we just kind of keep an eye on the community 

calendar and see what is going on see if there is an opportunity for us to go put a table up 

somewhere.  We participated at the Excel School, Goodwill, Church Community Services, a 21st 

Century scholar’s event over at the high school. Those are just a few, but any opportunity we 



   

 

21 

 

have to put out a table meet people meet parents, meet students, meet community members, and 

let them know what types of services the city has to offer.  311 as a key collaborator, it is really 

showing to be this kind of this pin that kind of pulls a whole bunch of different departments 

together that do different things, but kind of all have a common goal.  In March, we 311 

partnered with code enforcement and the police department to launch an initiative to address the 

abandoned vehicles issue.  We started really small, because this is a very intricate, detailed 

process that is driven by ordinance.  In March, we tagged nine (9) vehicles that means we go out 

and put a sticker on them to let them know it is subject to towing, it needs to be moved it is in 

violation.  In March, four (4) of those vehicles were removed by the resident, three (3) were 

towed and two (2) were granted an extension. In April, we went and did 13 vehicles; 11 were 

removed by the residents within 72 hours of them receiving that first sticker and two (2) of those 

residents got an extension. In addition, I talked with Tim a little bit down in code about what, 

what does an extension mean? And they are pretty strict on who gets an extension.  It is not just 

“can I have an extension”, sure. The people that they have given extension to have actually come 

in and showed them receipts from Auto Zone or O’Reilly Auto Parts or something here is the 

things I bought. I have to fix X and then this car is going to be moved. She said we are following 

up on that they have a real hard 30-day extension; they prove to us the car that they are working 

on it is a work in progress, we will give them a little bit of time to get that finished.  We are 

looking at continuing that program as so far it has been successful.  The number of people who 

have called us after they received a sticker are like oh my gosh I had no idea, I will get it taken 

care of really shows the power of that education and engagement with our residents to let them 

know this is a problem. All of these efforts with 311 and with our residents are paying off.  So 

far year to date we have had 3,130 311 request and compared to this same time period last year, 

we had only received 653, so that is quite the increase and engagement with the app.  So far, we 

have closed 2,458 of these and the other ones are in progress.  While these requests are spread 

out through all of our department’s, code enforcement alone has resolved almost 1,300 of these 

issues, and that is in addition to the issues that they find on their own and put into their own 

tracking system.  She said and when I say closed, I think this is a good opportunity to talk about 

what is closed mean. We get questions from people sometimes that say, hey, I saw my 311 was 

closed, but I still see the pothole, or I still see the car or whatever.  We encourage people when 

they call to look in the notes section of their 311 app, because sometimes closed means yeah, we 

filled the pothole, closed that is really easy for us to see.  Sometimes closed mean we have 

referred it to another department.  Maybe you sent it to the street department but it is actually 

buildings and grounds, so the street department closed it but now buildings and grounds is now 

working on it so it is open with them and that is always going to be in the notes.  Sometimes we 

get people that send us issues that are in the county, or even in other cities, we get stuff for 

Goshen sometimes and we close it and let the resident know this is actually for Goshen we 

provide them with a phone number that they can call.  Other times closed means that we have 

sent it to an outside agency like a traffic light or a street light that would be AEP issue we refer it 

out to them.  We are getting a lot better and staff is getting a lot better at putting the notes in the 

311 app so people actually know what is happening. You just see closed at the top, and you got 

to scroll down a little bit to read the notes and then you actually see what the next steps are in 

your issue. Of course, if anybody has further questions, just give 311 a call here in the office. She 

said I wanted to close with one of the praises that we received from 311.  We do have people that 

write into us and thank us for solving their issue.  This woman said I called the city to see if there 

was an.  This woman said I called the city about a street I was concerned about with potholes, 

but I was not sure it was within city limits.  She went on to say that, I first called the street 



   

 

22 

 

department and they were very helpful and confirmed that the area I was concerned about was in 

the city boundaries.  So I entered my request in 311, an even though I do think I did it correctly, 

it was assigned to the street department and by the next day, the crew had patched potholes.  

Many thanks to staff at the street department and specifically Martin Noffsinger from public 

works and Cierra Clairday from the street department who handled 311. That is just one of the 

pieces of thanks that we get from people they really like this system and how easy it is to use. 

 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

Councilman Curry reported on the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association. He said 

they will be meeting this Sunday at 5p.m. at the Pierre Moran Park Pavilion.  One of the main 

things on our agenda will be discussing our neighborhood clean-up along with the city on May 

13th.  He said as far as 311, we have asked people to reach out. We are glad to see that the paving 

list is already out for some of the paving projects.  He said I had the opportunity to go down 

Arcade by the hospital, our crews already did a fine job on that street this year, they are going to 

be paving Corelle and some of the streets in Bent Oak, and we are glad to see that in the 5th 

district.   

Councilwoman King stated our next meeting will be May 18th and she is excited that she 

has one of her 6th district neighbors, Ms. Robinson and she is looking forward to you joining us.  

The meeting is going to be at 803 Wolf Avenue at the SOS building with Sister Regina.  We are 

looking forward to having more people out there.  In addition, I want to thank 311, Patti and 

LaShawn have been very helpful with me about getting the word out about 311. The last meeting 

that we had everybody at the last meeting we had, we did download that.  Jamison has been 

helpful.  Code enforcement gave me brochures and let me know about the code violations and 

everything to share with everyone.  As we get more information, we go out in the community 

and I can make friends and be aware of what is expected.   

 
 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

Ralph Spelbring, resident of Elkhart, stated that he would like to propose that Leland 

and Prospect Streets be made one-way.  He then proceeded to read a letter that he wrote.   

 

Here is a copy of the United States Constitution.  Elkhart City Judge Grodnik believes the United 

States Constitution does not apply to Elkhart.  He belongs in Fantasyland in Disney World.  

Somebody who would claim that code enforcement officers do not make mistakes is either a 

crook, a fool or both.   

This property owner has about twenty pictures of properties with the public health hazard of 

abandoned tires in the old Roosevelt School area.  These can be breeding areas for disease 

bearing mosquitoes.  Several people died across the state line in southern Michigan from these 

diseases in 2019. City Judge Grodnik only allowed evidence from the city employee who ignored 

these public health hazards but excluded all evidence submitted by this property owner at a trial 

for an alleged cosmetic code violation; small door does not look good.  That was alleged 

violation.  However, almost twenty (20) properties had the public health hazards of abandoned 

tires.  



   

 

23 

 

Elkhart City Judge should be removed and replaced unless he agrees to follow the United States 

Constitution and allow defendants to defend themselves.   

Elected officials take an oath to follow the United States Constitution and if Grodnik does not 

want to follow the United States Constitution, then he should be removed and replaced.   

 

He went on to say that, he also has a response to the Elkhart AMP Group, it is a foolish fantasy.  

Parking will be a problem.  The city currently has an older venue in McNaughton.  That is a 

much better location for an outdoor venue.  He said US Mail is the best way to reach him.  Ralph 

Spelbring 236 Bank Street, Elkhart, Indiana 46576.   

 

  

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

  

Councilman Mishler stated he would be getting in touch with the public health and safety 

committee to schedule a meeting.   

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 

Minutes of March 30, 2023 – Board of Public Works 

Minutes of April 4, 2023 – Board of Public Works 

Minutes of March 21, 2023 – Park Board 

Minutes of March 6, 2023 – Plan Commission 

Memorandum – Residency Requirements for the Legislative Body & Mechanisms for 

Review Upon Challenge 

 

 

 Motion by Councilman Fish, seconded by Councilman Curry moved to accept 

communications.   

 

Councilman Mishler stated that he wanted to commend the Board of Public Works in 

looking through their communications; it looks like Frontier was hit with a pretty good size 

fine of about $15,000 dollars for tearing up people’s yards.  He said I know that was a 

concern that numerous folks came to this council and voiced as well as they reached out to 

various other members of council with their concerns.  I just wanted to thank the Board of 

Public Works and all its members for taking care of that.   

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the communications were accepted. 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 Motion by Councilman Mishler seconded by Councilman Fish, moved for adjournment, 

which motion carried unanimously, by voice vote, and the meeting was adjourned. 

 

 



   

 

24 

 

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk    Arvis Dawson  

       President of the Elkhart City Council 



  DRAFT 

   

 

MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC HEALTH & SAFETY COMMITTEE MEETING OF  

MAY 10, 2023 
 

 

Present: Public Health & Safety Committee Chairman Aaron Mishler  

Public Health & Safety Committee Members Kevin Bullard and Brent Curry 

 

 

Absent:  

 

 

 Councilman Mishler, Chairman of the Public Health & Safety Committee called the 

meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, 

Indiana.  This meeting was made available to the public via WebEx.  

 

The clerk called the roll.  

 

 Councilman Mishler said this evening the Public Health & Safety Committee will 

discuss: 

 

Proposed Ordinance 23-O-11 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING EIGHT HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($800,000.00) FOR LAND ACQUISITION AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR THE 

NEW PUBLIC SAFETY FACILITIES FOR THE ELKHART FIRE DEPARTMENT  

 

 The clerk read the proposed ordinance 21-O-37, by title only.   Councilman Mishler 

opened the floor for discussion.  He asked if there was a presentation from the administration.  

Chief Shaun Edgerton, Elkhart Fire Department stated that he believes the proposal you have 

in front of you is for design and professional services to address the need that we have for a new 

Fire Station 6.  He said if there is any questions, comments, concerns that you have, I will be 

more than happy to answer those for you at this point.   

 

 Councilman Bullard stated so the decision to choose this location based on what.  Chief 

Edgerton stated the decision for this location was generated by a study that was done by Shive-

Hattery/Core Consultants that we had done early 2020.  He said the results of that study mirrored 

DLZ 2001 that was before my time as an administrator of the Elkhart Fire Department and it 

outlined a general area that we should be looking for as the city grew in that direction.  

Councilman Bullard stated a lot has changed since that study with the new Amazon building.  

The growth of all the building are going to the northeast very rapidly even probably since that 

study has been done.  Chief Edgerton stated you are absolutely correct.   As the city moved that 

direction, we still have a population base that we still have to serve in the fire sector 6 area which 

is primarily a bedroom community.  He said so not only to serve the bedroom community but 

also the industrial base that is growing that direction, there is a plan in place for us to not only 

replace Station 6 but to move farther out also.   Councilman Bullard stated then at this location 

you would exit to the south and to the west.  That is going to Jeanwood Drive, are you going to 



 2 

be taking fire trucks that direction or are you going to come out on 6 and go around.  He asked 

with this particular location how is your response route going to be?  Chief Edgerton stated our 

response route is going to be dictated by where they are dispatched to.  Whatever is the most 

effective route for us to get to where we are being dispatched is going to be the route we take.  

He said they will exit out onto Ada and of course the major thoroughfares are probably quicker 

ways.  But, if we are going back into say the Greenleaf area or back into East Lake area that will 

necessitate us using Jeanwood.  Those things will be dictated by dispatch.   Councilman 

Bullard stated if you exit out to the north you are going to be coming out on County Road 6 and 

that is one of the highest traveled roads in Elkhart County.  Do you fore see any signalization 

that might be needed that is tied in with the fire department, you know you are going to have 

problems slowing traffic down.  Chief Edgerton stated we use County Road 6 on a regular basis 

and as it is right now if we determine that there is a need for us to do some sort of alteration of 

the signal patterns, there are methods by which we can do that.   There are methods that we can 

preempt signals, they can work with traffic if they need a yellow light there, need a caution light 

or some sort of light, those are all issues that have to be worked out no matter where you build 

the station.   Councilman Bullard stated I know that the appraised value is $300,000 plus 

dollars.  This property has been setting idle with Ludwig Investments for over 10 years.  He said 

I am pretty sure that they do not have that much money in it.  In the acquisition of the property is 

there negotiations where we offer them $100,000 or do we just throw out the money of the 

appraised value and run from there.  He said I bet that Ludwig Investments has less than ¼ of 

that in there especially if they have been hanging onto it for 10 years and they are trying to get 

rid of their properties.  Chief Edgerton said those are questions that I cannot answer for you.  I 

am not involved in that portion of the acquisition.  I would suggest that you speak with the 

development director and or controller for those sort of issues.  Councilman Bullard stated for 

the $300,000 for land acquisition and $500,000 for professional services would be an up to those 

limits.  Chief Edgerton stated again that is above my pay grade.  Councilman Bullard asked if 

we could get those answers by the time we get it to city council.  Corinne Straight, Director of 

Communications stated I am definitely not an expert in the real estate transaction but I can get 

you that information.  Mike Huber has been working with the real estate agent to figure out that 

best price.  She said that $300,000 does include surveying cost and closing costs etc…so that is 

on top of the actual price of the property and yes it is not to exceed $300,000 dollars is what they 

are planning for.  For the $500,000 we did actually get our quote back from DLZ and they are 

here tonight.  Professional services and design for Station 6 will be around $520,000.  We have 

$500,000 from this appropriation and then we have additional money that has already been 

budgeted in the 2023 budget for the fire station for design that we will use out of that fund as 

well.   Councilman Bullard stated I know that you have had another location.  Has there been 

any sort of outreach to the community for this location as far as noise, traffic, blaring sirens in 

the middle of the night have you done an outreach?  Chief Edgerton stated we have done an 

outreach to the community.  Originally one of the locations that was proposed garnered some 

push back from the community to which we decided that we would not use that piece of property 

and subsequently we move to this piece of property. After that, we had another hearing and the 

public seemed to be very welcoming of the piece of property that we have decided to go with.  

Councilman Bullard asked what equipment, vehicles, engines are going to be housed at this 

location?  Chief Edgerton stated right now I would say Engine 6, and also Medic 25 which 

services that area right now but it runs out of downtown.  The plans are in the future to move a 

truck company there.   As you said before, we have issues moving to the northeast with the 

industrial base that we have out there, the size of the buildings and the amount of square footage 



 3 

and since we have moved to a quote unquote to battalion system we in the future would like to 

place a truck company and also a command vehicle in this new facility.   

 Councilman Curry stated he was at the earlier presentation at Station 6, so I heard a lot 

of your information at that meeting.  But I see that we have two (2) appraisals on this land and I 

did take a ride out there and took a look at it.  It is in an industrial park so you probably will not 

have much concern about residential.  Once we leave the station we will be okay but when we 

get into residential there might be some concern there about the noise at night.  Being in an 

industrial park is kind of a first for us.  Chief Edgerton stated for the City of Elkhart yes it is.  It 

would be a unique situation for us but as you look industry wide, you will see that this is not an 

unusual practice to place facilities in more industrial areas just to cut down on the noise pollution 

generated by a fire station.  Councilman Curry asked what is your timeline for hoping to have a 

station in place.   Chief Edgerton stated I cannot give you a specific timeline because as I have 

said before, nothing moves as fast as I would like it to.  Stephen Kromkowski, AIA, principal 

architect with DLZ stated from a construction standpoint, we would anticipate 10 to 12 months 

for a station about this size; a three (3) bay station somewhere around 10,000 square feet.  

Design work would be less than that.   If we began our program confirmation concept moving all 

the way through design and getting it ready to go out to bid, we would be able to have that ready 

in the spring of 2024.  Councilman Curry stated that he is okay with that.  But he has noticed 

that we are moving a little bit northeast of the old location so we are going to be able to cover 

some of that new growth out east?  Chief Edgerton stated the moving of the station will 

facilitate us moving out farther.  It does not fulfill every need that we fore see for that area of the 

city.  But, as I said this is step 1 and we move in baby steps.  After we facility the first step, we 

move to the next phase and hopefully at that point in time, we will have full and continuous 

coverage of not just that part of the city but the city in and of itself.   

 Councilman Bullard stated you were talking about the 10,000 square foot for this 

structure and this is a 4 plus acre parcel, is there plans to expand, have training facilities.  That is 

a lot of land for a 10,000 square foot facility.  I know you have to have turn trucks around.  

Stephen Kromkowski stated there is quite a bit of truck movement but it would be a drive 

through which means you are doubling your lanes.  It is not typical to backup unless you are in a 

tight urban setting.  So, there is a bit more land development.  We also have to have onsite storm 

requirements for Stormwater management and then you have parking for basically duel shifts.  

He said about 4 to 5 acres is pretty typical for a 10 to 12,000 square foot facility.  In terms of 

potential expansion, it is a 3 bay station right now and what is the potential for adding on another 

bay in the future.  It maybe is not designed but you anticipate that with the land development 

from the very beginning.   

 Councilman Mishler stated considering the location on County Road 6, have you heard 

of any issues from our partners at Osolo Township in regards to runs out there or anything like 

that?  Chief Edgerton stated no, we have no issues with our firefighting partners at this point.  

Councilman Mishler said so they have never brought up any traffic issues or any concerns 

regarding County Road 6.   Chief Edgerton said as I said we run 6 and I live in that space I live 

off of County Road 4 so I travel that area on a daily basis.  Osolo Township, Cleveland 

Township use 6 and from time to time you will have Bristol run through that corridor also, so it 

gets used.  He said in fact, I saw Engine 7 run through there twice today and Cleveland once, so 

at least three (3) times today that corridor was used.   Councilman Mishler asked how will this 

improve response time and what it is now.  Chief Edgerton stated our goal is to keep ourselves 

within the NFPA standard which is a 6 minute response time from the time of the dispatch to the 

time of the first arriving engine company.  This will allow us to stay within that NFPA guideline.  



 4 

Councilman Mishler asked do you know where we are at right now.  Chief Edgerton stated we 

are at approximately 3 minutes and 47 seconds.  He said the City of Elkhart Fire Department 

does a really good job of getting out the door and getting where we need to get but as the city 

grows will we see a slight change?  We will see a slight change but those are growing pains.  

Councilman Mishler stated with this station moving east, is there any concern about response 

time to the west of where there was previously coverage or will this be able to cover both 

without impacting?  Chief Edgerton stated as we move that station a little bit east, the central 

fire station, their response area, which is the smallest in the city would expand out.  They would 

go from approximately Independence and they would bring Engine 6 back to Independence and 

that will allow us to negotiation those kind of issues.   

 

 Councilman Mishler stated at this time he would entertain a motion for recommendation 

to the full council.  

 

 Councilman Curry moved to pass the proposed ordinance to the full council with a do 

pass recommendation.  Seconded by Councilman Bullard.   The clerk was asked to do a Roll 

Call vote. 

 

AYES:  Bullard, Curry, Mishler 

NAYS: 

 

By a vote of 3-0, the proposed ordinance went back to the full council with a do pass 

recommendation.   

 

 

 

 At 7:35 p.m. Councilman Bullard, seconded by Councilman Curry, moved for 

adjournment, which motion carried by voice vote and the meeting was adjourned.  

 

       

 

 

      ___________________________________ 

      Aaron Mishler 

      Public Health & Safety Committee Chairman 

 

 

 




































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	AGENDA for June 5, 2023 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of June 13 2022 Regular Common Council Meeting
	Minutes of July 11 2022 Regular Common Council Meeting
	Minutes of May 1, 2023 Council Meeting
	Minutes of May 10, 2023 Public Health & Safety Committee
	Proposed Ordinance 23-O-11
	Proposed Ordinance 23-O-12
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-09
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-10
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-11
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-12
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-13
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-15
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-16
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-17
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-18
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-19
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-20
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-21
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-22
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-23
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-24
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-25
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-26
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-27
	Proposed Resolution 23-R-28
	Minutes of April 11, 2023 - Aurora Capital Development Corporation
	Minutes of May 3, 2023 - Board of Public Works
	Minutes of May 9, 2023 - Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of April 27, 2023 - Human Relations Commission
	Minutes of April 18, 2023 - Parks & Recreation Board
	Minutes of April 11, 2023 - Redevelopment Commission
	Report - April 2023 Month End - Elkhart Communications Center

